Not Quite Killing It: Black Hole Evaporation, Global Energy, and De-Idealization.

Eugene Y. S. Chua eugene.chuays@ntu.edu.sg Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

Preprint of 11 February 2025. Accepted for publication at the *European Journal for Philosophy of Science*. Please cite published version when available.

Abstract

A family of arguments for black hole evaporation relies on conservation laws, defined through symmetries represented by Killing vector fields which exist globally or asymptotically. However, these symmetries often rely on the idealizations of stationarity and asymptotic flatness, respectively. In non-stationary or non-asymptotically-flat spacetimes where realistic black holes evaporate, the requisite Killing fields typically do not exist. Can we 'de-idealize' these idealizations, and subsequently the associated arguments for black hole evaporation? Here, I critically examine the strategy of using 'approximately Killing' fields to de-idealize black hole spacetimes and approximately extend conservation laws to non-idealized cases. I argue that this approach encounters significant challenges, undermining the use of these idealizations to justify the evaporation of realistic – rather than idealized – black holes, and raising questions about the justified use of such idealizations.

Keywords: black holes, black hole evaporation, global conservation of energy, deidealization, idealization, approximation, symmetries, approximate Killing fields

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	An overview of relativistic black hole physics	5
3	From Hawking radiation to black hole evaporation	8

4	A na	aive dilemma for black hole evaporation	11
5	Qua	si-stationarity: the impossible process	12
	5.1	Quasi-stationarity	12
	5.2	Quasi-staticity: the impossible process	13
	5.3	Idealization & de-idealization	16
	5.4	Quasi-stationary processes and (the lack of) de-idealization	18
6	Asy	mptotic flatness and de-idealization	24
	6.1	Asymptotic flatness	25
	6.2	Asymptotic flatness, stationarity, and quasi-stationarity	27
	6.3	Asymptotic flatness as idealization	28
	6.4	De-idealizing asymptotic flatness	30
	6.5	Quarantining the idealization	35
7	Con	cluding Remarks	42

1 Introduction

It is often said that black holes are where our best theory of matter, quantum mechanics, meet our best theory of spacetime, general relativity. One prominent way in which black hole physics connects both quantum mechanics and general relativity is through the study of *black hole thermodynamics*. By adopting a semiclassical approximation, Hawking (1974/1975) first studied the effects of (classical) black hole horizons on a (quantum) vacuum field, and argued that black hole horizons can be understood as radiating at a certain temperature to observers at infinity. In other words, black hole horizons emit Hawking radiation. Beyond spawning other research programs, notably the quest to resolve the so-called information loss paradox,¹ Hawking radiation also motivates a broader project to study black holes as bona fide thermodynamic objects, stemming from Hawking's prediction that black holes should 'evaporate' as a result of Hawking radiation. We should thus treat black holes as obeying thermodynamic laws just as ordinary matter does.² In Curiel's words, "almost everyone agrees that black hole thermodynamics provides our best guide for clues to a successful theory of quantum gravity." (2019a, 27) The hope is that a closer investigation of black holes will unearth a more fundamental theory unifying both quantum mechanics and general relativity.³

Since Hawking, black hole evaporation has come to be enshrined as a linchpin of black hole physics: a search for 'black hole evaporation' in the physics literature will yield overwhelming

¹See Belot et al (1999) for an excellent review of the information loss paradox.

²For a general rejoinder to black hole thermodynamics as more than a 'formal analogy', see Dougherty & Callender (2016). See also a response by Wallace (2018).

³See e.g. Hawking (1977).

consensus on its existence.⁴ There are, by now, many different approaches with which one can derive Hawking radiation and black hole evaporation, each with their theoretical baggage.⁵ Studying the foundations of these various approaches have physical and philosophical upshots. Physically, examining the assumptions behind each approach can challenge us to improve and generalize the results from each approach, discern their limits, and better understand the physics of black holes as well as related questions, such as a clearer understanding of the nature of the information loss paradox. Philosophically, such scrutiny also raises interesting questions about the justified use of idealizations, whether de-idealizations are needed for such justification, and what happens if such de-idealizations cannot be found. While such questions have been discussed in the broader philosophy of science literature and in other contexts such as phase transitions, they have only been explored more seriously in the context of semiclassical gravity in recent years, by philosophers such as Gryb et al (2021) or Ryder (forthcoming).

In this vein, this paper will examine the foundations of one prominent family of arguments for black hole evaporation given Hawking radiation. Such arguments rely essentially on the global conservation of energy one way or another, and generally go something like this.⁶ Since we observe black holes emitting energy via Hawking radiation, this energy must be coming from somewhere due to the conservation of energy.⁷ If the spacetime we are studying is vacuum everywhere,⁸ as in typical black hole spacetimes such as Schwarzschild spacetime, the only object that could lose energy as a result of the radiation is the object of study, the black hole. In other words, black holes lose mass ('evaporate') due to Hawking radiation, just as ordinary matter radiate and lose energy to their environment.

In my view, however, this family of arguments for black hole evaporation rest on subtle foundational questions surrounding the nature of energy and idealizations in general relativity. Such arguments depend crucially on the assumption that there exists some *globally* conserved energy, which in turn rely on the existence of appropriate global or asymptotic spacetime symmetries. Yet, it is not clear that these exist for non-idealized systems in general relativity, given a prominent view of idealization.

My worry for such arguments begins from the most naïve understanding of global energy conservation, in terms of global time-like Killing fields and stationarity. Given such an

⁴A notable outlier is Ellis (2015) which discusses similar concerns to the one I will discuss here, concerning the global conservation of energy (or lack thereof) and its role in motivating black hole evaporation.

⁵For a sampler of the variety of approaches, see e.g. Wall (2009), Wallace (2018).

⁶That is, such arguments rely on global spacetime structure in a crucial way. These are contrasted against other approaches which do not obviously do so, such as those which employ an expected stress-energy tensor of the appropriate vacuum state on a black hole spacetime and considers the sort of vacuum polarization that happens near the horizon for such states. For the latter approach, see e.g. Birrell & Davies (1982) and references therein. Thanks to an anonymous reviewer for suggesting that I distinguish these approaches.

⁷Due to the myriad literature out there with differing terminologies, and the mass-energy equivalence in general relativity, I will use 'mass', 'mass-energy', and 'energy' interchangeably in this paper.

⁸More precisely, the spacetime contains a quantum field in the vacuum state.

approach, an apparent dilemma for black hole evaporation arises: either the spacetime is time-independent, which guarantees the global conservation of energy par excellence but also ensures that no change over time – and no evaporation – occurs. Or the spacetime is time-dependent, so that evaporation over time is *possible*. However, without time-independence, the naive approach seems to say that the relevant spacetime does not have a globally conserved energy after all.

What's interesting is not so much the dilemma itself – after all, stationarity is rarely assumed (nothing interesting happens if nothing changes) – but rather the sort of answers one might give to this dilemma. In practice, two prominent idealizations for introducing the global conservation of energy for *non*-stationary systems are used instead (implicitly or explicitly). The first is the notion of *quasi-stationarity*, and the second is *asymptotic flatness*. Prominently, Hawking's original 1975 derivation explicitly used the notion of quasi-stationarity, while asymptotic flatness sees widespread use in black hole physics. At first glance, both allow one to introduce a global conservation law for energy in contexts where the metric is time-dependent. However, borrowing from recent discussions by Norton (2012, 2016) and Duerr (2019), I will argue that while both tools *qua* idealizations can support inferences for black hole evaporation, they do not support the inferences to black hole evaporation in realistic – 'de-idealized' – black holes. As I will argue, there is no clear way of 'de-idealizing' from these idealizations in general relativity, to borrow from McMullin (1985), something that isn't appreciated enough in the philosophical literature.⁹

In the philosophical sphere, there are lively debates surrounding the nature of gravitational energy *in general*, though this debate has not, to my knowledge, been discussed explicitly in the context of black hole physics.¹⁰ An outlier here is Maudlin (2017, 7), who briefly notes (without elaboration) that "the cogency of Hawking's 1975 argument that the black hole should lose mass and eventually evaporate is not completely evident, but that is a matter for another time". Wallace (2018) also provided some brief arguments in favor of black hole evaporation, though he does not contend with the problems I will raise here surrounding quasi-stationarity or asymptotic flatness.

In what follows, I begin by reviewing relativistic black hole physics in §2. In §3, I sketch Hawking's argument for Hawking radiation and introduce the aforementioned family of arguments for how Hawking radiation, plus global conservation of energy, leads to black hole evaporation. In §4, I introduce the naïve dilemma for black hole evaporation. In §5 and §6 I introduce quasi-stationarity and asymptotic flatness and argue that we are not yet justified in inferring that realistic black holes evaporate using these idealizations. Once we distinguish clearly the difference between approximation and idealization (following Norton's (2012) characterizations. I do so by arguing that there is no clear way yet to 'de-idealize'

⁹See also Knuttila & Morgan (2019) for a contemporary discussion of de-idealization.

¹⁰See the seminal Hoefer (2000), with responses by e.g. Pitts (2010), Read (2018) and De Haro (2022).

these idealizations in terms of approximations. To do so is to provide a sense in which spacetimes *approximately* have certain global or asymptotic symmetries; this, in turn, seem to require the notion of 'approximate Killing fields'. However, I argue that, right now, there is no suitable notion of approximate Killing fields which can do the work required. Without a way to de-idealize these idealizations, we cannot yet conclude that arguments made with these idealizations apply to our world – they seem to require these idealizations essentially. As such, these arguments for black hole evaporation which rely on global conservation of energy do not yet provide us with justification for thinking that realistic black holes, too, evaporate. This points to a direction for future theoretical work – in rigorously demonstrating that such a de-idealization can be obtained.

In §6.5 I discuss how this problem can be quarantined from most applications of general relativity: those applications, such as the predictions of gravitational lensing, the perihelion precession of Mercury, or accretion and black hole growth due to infalling matter, do *not* essentially require the problematic idealized properties discussed here. I also briefly consider the more controversial case of gravitational radiation. To that end, my argument does not 'infect' all of general relativity. Finally, I want to emphasize that I am not ruling out the possibility of black hole evaporation *per se*; rather, this paper only seeks to evaluate one family of arguments - those relying on global spacetime structure to motivate the use of global conservation of energy to infer that black holes evaporate - and to point out how one prominent view for justifying idealizations appears to fail for those arguments here. The use of some idealizations in general relativity do not appear to have a 'clean' de-idealization procedure, which raises further questions about how idealizations are to be justified in this context. As I mentioned earlier, there are many other arguments for black hole evaporation and Hawking radiation, which I cannot cover in a single paper (perhaps not even a book). Furthermore, there are other theories of idealization and de-idealization, some of which might be more permissive, which might vindicate and justify black hole evaporation despite the worries I have presented here. (In fact, I am currently working on precisely one such account of idealization and de-idealization.)

2 An overview of relativistic black hole physics

I begin by specifying some key concepts. Since arguments for black hole evaporation typically take place in the semiclassical regime, gravity is understood classically. The arena of discourse is thus general relativity.

Our discussion begins from the metric tensor $g_{\alpha\beta}$ (henceforth simply the 'metric'), which defines a spacetime of interest and constrains the behavior of matter on said spacetime via the

Einstein Field Equations:¹¹

$$R_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{\alpha\beta} + \Lambda g_{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi T_{\alpha\beta} \tag{1}$$

where $R_{\alpha\beta}$ is the Ricci tensor, R is the Ricci scalar, Λ is the cosmological constant (which may or may not vanish), and $T_{\alpha\beta}$ is the stress-energy tensor encoding the behavior of matter in spacetime.

In general, energy is always *locally* conserved in general relativity. Along any worldline χ , the covariant derivative of $T_{\alpha\beta}$ vanishes:

$$\nabla_{\chi} T_{\alpha\beta} = 0 \tag{2}$$

In other words, momentum and energy are conserved given infinitesimal displacements along any worldline, as one would expect from classical physics.

However, as is well-known, this does not generally entail *global* conservation of energy.¹² The fact that energy is conserved along any observer's worldline does not allow us to say that energy is conserved for the *entire* spacetime.

Famously, Noether (1918) showed that every differentiable symmetry of the action of a physical system is associated with some conserved current satisfying a continuity equation, and thus a corresponding conservation law. In the context of general relativity, these symmetries are represented by Killing vector fields (or simply Killing fields) which generate isometries (trajectories along which the metric is constant). A Killing vector $\boldsymbol{\xi}$ represent an infinitesimal displacement along which the Lie-derivative ($\boldsymbol{\pounds}$) of the metric vanishes:

$$\pounds_{\xi} g_{\alpha\beta} = 0 \tag{3}$$

This demand leads naturally to the result that $\boldsymbol{\xi}$ satisfies Killing's equation, where ∇ is the covariant derivative:

$$\nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\mu} + \nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} = 0 \tag{4}$$

With Killing's equation and the geodesic equation, where \mathbf{p} is the tangent vector to any arbitrary geodesic,

$$\nabla_{\mathbf{p}} \mathbf{p} = 0 \tag{5}$$

we can derive the following theorem.¹³ In any spacetime geometry endowed with a symmetry described by a Killing field $\boldsymbol{\xi}$, motion along any geodesic leaves the scalar product of the tangent vector \mathbf{p} with the Killing vector $\boldsymbol{\xi}$ constant (taken with respect to the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$):

$$\mathbf{p} \cdot \boldsymbol{\xi} = g_{\mu\nu} p^{\mu} \xi^{\nu} = constant \tag{6}$$

¹¹More precisely a spacetime is given by the pair $(M, g_{\alpha\beta})$ where M is a manifold. Here I will speak of the metric and spacetime interchangeably. Nothing turns on this difference. Furthermore, to simplify presentation, I will use natural units such that $c = G = \hbar = k = 1$.

¹²See Maudlin, Okon & Sudarsky (2020) for an excellent discussion.

¹³See Misner, Thorne & Wheeler (1973, 651) for discussion.

This allows us to describe a *globally* conserved quantity on a spacetime, i.e., a quantity conserved everywhere in spacetime.¹⁴ For example, space-like translational symmetries are what allow us to make sense of the global conservation of linear momentum, while the space-like rotational symmetries let us define the global conservation of angular momentum. Likewise, the time-like translational symmetry, represented by the existence of Killing fields along the time-like coordinate, is associated with the global conservation of energy. That is, it suffices for global conservation of energy that there exists a global time-like Killing field, i.e., an isometry of the metric along the time-like direction.¹⁵ As I'll discuss in much more detail later in §6, it also suffices for global conservation of energy if the spacetime is endowed with appropriate *asymptotic* symmetries, specifically, the existence of asymptotic time-like Killing fields associated with asymptotic time-like translational symmetry 'at infinity', even if the appropriate global symmetries do not obtain. However, the existence of either global or asymptotic asymmetries is crucial: without such symmetries, we cannot define a global conservation law. If a spacetime does not have the requisite symmetries, there can be no global conservation laws for that spacetime. This will be crucial for our discussions later.

Now we are in a position to consider the metrics of black holes, as well as their symmetries and associated conservation laws. The most common metrics associated with black holes (and the ones used in the proof of Hawking radiation to be discussed later) *do* have some degree of symmetry, allowing us to define global conservation laws on spacetimes describing such black holes. As we will see, these laws are essentially tied to a key property of these black hole metrics: notably, it requires their *time-independence*.

For instance, the Schwarzschild metric describing the vacuum asymptotically flat exterior of a non-rotating uncharged spherically symmetric black hole in Schwarzschild coordinates (t, r, θ , ϕ) is given by:¹⁶

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right)dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right)^{-1}dr^{2} + r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2})$$
(7)

where M is the mass parameter and 2M is the Schwarzschild radius which determines the event horizon. Importantly, M is constant in time here, i.e. a time-independent parameter (Schwarzschild 1916, 2). The metric components are independent of t and ϕ , and coordinate transformations reveal two more spatial rotational symmetries. Together the Schwarzschild metric has 4 associated Killing fields – one time-like and three space-like – resulting in global conservation of both energy and angular momentum in the usual spatial directions. Importantly, the Schwarzschild metric is not only independent of the time coordinate t but

¹⁴See Hawking & Ellis (1973, 61 – 63), Misner, Thorne & Wheeler (1973, §25.2), Carroll (2019, 120), or Maudlin, Okon & Sudarsky (2020, §2.4) for discussion.

¹⁵See, also, Brown (2022) who details the equal footing of both Noether's theorem and its converse. This suggests a strict two-way relationship between conservation laws and symmetries, though some technical caveats apply.

¹⁶I will discuss asymptotic flatness in much more detail in §6.

also lacks any cross terms mixing dt with spatial coordinates. This implies the existence of a timelike Killing vector field that is hypersurface-orthogonal. Therefore, the Schwarzschild spacetime is *static*, meaning it is time-independent and has no rotational or twisting effects.

The Kerr metric, which describes the vacuum asymptotically flat exterior of a *rotating* uncharged *axially* symmetric black hole, is given in Boyer-Lindquist coordinates (t, r, θ, ϕ) by:

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{\Delta - a^{2} \sin^{2} \theta}{\rho^{2}} dt^{2} - 2a \frac{2Mr \sin^{2} \theta}{\rho^{2}} dt d\phi + \frac{\rho^{2}}{\Delta} dr^{2} + \frac{(r^{2} + a^{2})^{2} - a^{2} \Delta \sin^{2} \theta}{\rho^{2}} \sin^{2} \theta d\phi^{2} + \rho^{2} d\theta^{2}$$
(8)

where $\Delta \equiv r^2 - 2Mr + a^2$, $\rho^2 \equiv r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta$, J is the angular momentum parameter and M is again the mass parameter. The event horizons occur where $\Delta = 0$. Once more, by inspection, we can see that the Kerr metric is independent of the time-like t as well as the space-like ϕ . However, since the black hole is rotating, there is a privileged axis of rotation which rules out the two other Killing fields associated with the spherically symmetric Schwarzschild black hole. So we only have two Killing fields, one time-like and one space-like.¹⁷ As a result, we have global conservation laws for energy and angular momentum (in one direction). The Kerr metric is independent of the time coordinate t but includes cross terms like $dt d\phi$ due to the rotation of the black hole. This introduces a mixing of time and space coordinates, resulting in a timelike Killing vector field that is *not* hypersurface-orthogonal. Consequently, the Kerr spacetime is *stationary but not static* – it is time-independent but includes rotational effects that prevent the spacetime from being static.¹⁸

3 From Hawking radiation to black hole evaporation

The key idea for Hawking radiation is that we can consider how quantum matter fields behave near a collapsing star as the latter forms a black hole and event horizon, and how this behavior appears to observers during 'late times' at infinity, i.e. after the black hole has settled into a *stationary* or *static* state. By comparing quantum fields at past and future infinity in a black hole spacetime, Hawking (1975) argued that the stationary black hole horizon – a global spacetime structure – can be interpreted as emitting radiation, and hence having a temperature T, proportional to its surface gravity κ :

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \tag{9}$$

¹⁷There is also a Killing *tensor* field, though I will not discuss it in this context.

¹⁸A generalized family of stationary metrics is the Kerr-Newman family of metrics, which also allows one to discuss charged black holes.

As mentioned, this has been derived in a variety of ways.¹⁹ Hawking's original calculations considered only spherically symmetric collapse, though, as Wald (2001, 12) notes, the effect obtains for any arbitrary gravitational collapse into a black hole. Note, however, that a common assumption remains despite the myriad of generalizations available nowadays: the radiating black hole is assumed *stationary*. (Wald 2001, 12). We'll return to this in §4 and §5.

While Hawking's derivations establish that black holes can be thought as emitting some amount of energy via Hawking radiation, and that this radiation *can* be interpreted as the temperature of the black hole, these derivations do not yet amount to an conclusive argument that the black hole *really* has a temperature. As Wallace notes,

these derivations in of themselves do not suffice to establish that Hawking radiation is fully analogous to ordinary thermal radiation, because they imply nothing about whether a radiating black hole ultimately decreases in mass and, thus, surface area. (2018, 11)

Ordinary thermodynamic objects lose energy and/or mass when radiating or losing energy to their surroundings. We have shown that global spacetime structures like black holes radiate energy to their surroundings, but do they lose energy or mass as a result? In other words, do they evaporate? As Hawking himself noted in his original derivation for Hawking radiation and black hole evaporation:

the particle creation [i.e. Hawking radiation] is really a global process and is not localised in the collapse: an observer falling through the event horizon would not see an infinite number of particles coming out from the collapsing body. Because it is a *non-local* process, it is probably not reasonable to expect to be able to form a local energy-momentum tensor to describe the back-reaction of the particle creation on the metric. (1975, 216)

That is, the sort of energy conservation we should employ cannot be the usual local conservation of energy (eq. 2). As Wallace also observes:

given that there is no robust local definition of gravitational energy and, relatedly, no robust way to understand total energy as a sum of local energies, we cannot simply appeal to a local conservation law to conclude that radiating black holes evaporate. (2018, 11)

Because there is no robust local notion of gravitational energy,²⁰ we cannot appeal to local conservation laws for energy to support the argument for black hole evaporation.

¹⁹See e.g. Hawking (1974/1975), Wald (2001) or Carroll (2019).

²⁰The most prominent proposal is the pseudotensor approach. For a recent proponent of this approach, see Read (2020). For (what I think are successful) rejoinders and partial rejoinders, see Duerr (2021) and De Haro (2022) respectively.

To my knowledge, though, many physicists rely implicitly or explicitly on *some* notion of energy conservation when discussing the back-reaction of Hawking radiation on black holes. A generic answer is that black holes lose energy when Hawking radiation occurs, because Hawking radiation carries energy away to infinity. The assumption here is that energy is conserved somehow, so that any change in energy must be compensated by a corresponding change elsewhere. Hawking (1975) himself phrases the reasoning as follows:

[Hawking radiation] will give positive energy flux out across the event horizon or, *equivalently*, a negative energy flux in across the event horizon. [...] This negative energy flux corresponding to the outgoing positive energy flux will cause the area of the event horizon to decrease and so the black hole will not, in fact, be in a stationary state. (1975, 219, emphasis mine)

The 'equivalence' here amounts to some reasoning relying on conservation of energy. Hawking (1976) uses this reasoning more explicitly:

Because this radiation carries away energy, the black holes must presumably lose mass and eventually disappear. (Hawking 1976, 2461)

Wald (2001) says the same:

Conservation of energy requires that an isolated black hole must lose mass in order to compensate for the energy radiated to infinity by the Hawking process. (2001, 16)

Carlip (2014, 20) simply equates the change of mass of a black hole to the power radiated by the black hole:²¹

$$\frac{dM}{dt} = -\epsilon\sigma T^4 A \tag{10}$$

where ϵ is the emissivity parameter, σ is the Stefan-Boltzmann constant, A is the area of the black hole, and T is its temperature. The right-hand side is simply the Stefan-Boltzmann law for the total power radiated by a black body over some surface area, but the claim that this *equates* to the change in mass requires conservation reasoning.

How are we to interpret all these claims about the use of conservation of energy in generating black hole evaporation, in light of the inability to employ a local conservation law of energy for such contexts? It seems that the next natural option is to appeal to some *global* conservation law for energy. As I will argue in the next section, this approach, taken naïvely, leads quickly to contradiction.

²¹Carlip is not the first to do so – see e.g. Page (1976).

4 A naïve dilemma for black hole evaporation

Since the typical argument for Hawking radiation and black hole evaporation is semiclassical, the operative assumption is that the classical rules of general relativity hold. This should include the rules for when a global conservation law exists, e.g., when a spacetime is stationary (see §2). Given these rules, one might consider a naïve first step for justifying the use of global conservation of energy and arguing for black hole evaporation: understand it in terms of global time-like Killing fields and stationarity. After all, stationarity suffices for global energy conservation, and the aforementioned black hole metrics precisely possess the requisite time-like Killing fields.

Unfortunately, the story is not so simple, and this naïve perspective quickly leads to contradiction. Simply put, situations where evaporation is expected to occur are precisely those where there is no global time-like Killing field. On the contrary, situations where there is such a global symmetry are those where evaporation is impossible. So from this naïve perspective, the argument for black hole evaporation cannot take off. Granted, no one holds this naïve perspective. However, it is instructive for us to examine this argument briefly, for other tools – to be discussed in later sections – can be seen as ways to avoid this problem.

Let me reformulate the worry in the form of a dilemma (see also Ryder (forthcoming) for discussion of a paradox with a similar flavor, which he calls the black hole idealization paradox). For any spacetime in which we want to argue for the occurrence of black hole evaporation, we begin by noting that any such spacetime is either static/stationary, or not. In other words, the metric for that spacetime is either time-independent or not.

On the one hand, if the spacetime is static or stationary, then it does have the appropriate global Killing field structure, as we have already seen from §2. For example, the Kerr and Schwarzschild metrics are time-independent and do have global time-like Killing fields defined on their associated spacetimes. Indeed, as I mentioned above, the black hole is typically taken to settle into a stationary state when it is radiating Hawking radiation. Yet, we have also seen that static/stationary metrics are precisely those that do not change over time. Since they do not change over time, the black hole being described by said metric does not change over time either. This means said black hole with a static/stationary metric does *not* evaporate, for evaporation entails a change of mass over time (as Carlip (2014) puts it explicitly above), rendering mass a time-dependent parameter. Since mass is a parameter featured in the metric, its time-dependence entails the time-dependence of the metric. Black hole evaporation cannot occur for a black hole described by a static/stationary metric.

On the other hand, if a spacetime (i.e. the metric describing it) is *not* static or stationary, then of course the parameters of the black hole in that spacetime are allowed to be time-dependent. They *can* change over time and therefore we can describe the evaporation of a black hole with such a metric. For instance, mass can be a parameter that depends on the time-like coordinate. A simple example discussed by Wallace (2018) is the Vaidya spacetime, where the (retarded

time) metric is:

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{2m(u)}{r}\right)du^{2} - 2dudr + r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2})$$
(11)

which looks a lot like the Schwarzschild metric with a time-dependent mass parameter. However, in these cases we do *not* have a global time-like Killing field for the spacetime in question, since the actual metric is *time-dependent*. Spacetimes which allow for evaporation are precisely spacetimes that do *not* have the requisite global symmetries. From the naïve perspective, there is no global conservation law to rely on since there are no global symmetries, and hence we cannot yet assume some loss of mass or energy in these cases as compensation for the positive energy flux radiated to infinity by Hawking radiation. Put another way, spacetimes which *can* accommodate evaporation are precisely those where we have *no justification* yet for thinking that evaporation occurs.

Thus, if we understand global energy conservation naïvely in terms of stationarity, we lack justification for believing in the occurrence of black hole evaporation on both horns of the dilemma. Again, to emphasize, I discuss this dilemma not because I think this naïve perspective is correct, but because I think it is a useful starting point for discussing other ways for motivating global energy conservation and justifying black hole evaporation.

Given the failure of the naïve approach to global energy conservation, the rest of the paper will evaluate two distinct strategies for recovering global conservation of energy. These two strategies appeal to two different idealizations, mapping onto the two ways – globally or asymptotically – in which one can define global conservation of energy. On the one hand (§5), one can accept the absence of global symmetries but appeal to approximate global symmetries via the idealization of *quasi-stationarity* and approximate global time-like Killing fields. On the other hand (§6), one can appeal instead to (approximate) asymptotic symmetries at infinity via a different idealization, *asymptotic flatness*. As I'll argue in detail, both idealizations run into trouble when it comes to 'de-idealization', and hence in justifying their use for modeling realistic systems.

5 Quasi-stationarity: the impossible process

5.1 Quasi-stationarity

An immediate reply to the first horn of the naïve dilemma above is to point out that stationary systems are not physically interesting, since they never change over time. But the second horn bites back: non-stationary spacetimes do not have a well-defined conserved energy – what then?

Hawking himself was aware of this problem. Evaporation can only occur for a *non-stationary* black hole. However, the black hole was assumed to be *stationary* in the derivation of Hawking

radiation. How can we reconcile the two? In response, Hawking suggested we employ the assumption of *quasi-stationarity*:

This negative energy flux will cause the area of the event horizon to decrease and so the black hole will not, in fact, be in a stationary state. However, as long as the mass of the black hole is large compared to the Planck mass 10^{-5} g, the rate of evolution of the black hole will be very slow compared to the characteristic time for light to cross the Schwarzschild radius. Thus, it is a reasonable approximation to describe the black hole by a sequence of stationary solutions and to calculate the rate of particle emission in each solution. (Hawking 1975, 219)

In short, quasi-stationarity is the claim that a black hole changing over time can be approximated with a sequence of stationary (or static) solutions. Though this assumption is used almost everywhere in black hole physics as Page (2005, 10) notes, it is not always spelled out explicitly.²² Typically it is masked by describing the black hole as 'slowly evolving' (Zurek & Thorne 1985), or by discussing black hole dynamics while using a static or stationary metric like the Schwarzschild or Kerr (i.e. *non*-dynamical) metrics (Abramovicz & Fragile 2013).

Here's how an explicit rendition of Hawking's defense might look like. We start by accepting that the black hole (and spacetime) in question is actually time-*dependent* and *non-stationary*. However, because its mass is changing so slowly in time when it has a large mass relative to the Planck scale, we can assume that this time-dependent black hole approximates a certain idealization – a sequence of time-independent stationary black holes that can be said to be *quasi-stationary*. For each such stationary metric, there is global conservation of energy associated with that solution. So we can derive Hawking radiation in this stationary regime, and using conservation reasoning here, conclude that the energy of the black hole must decrease. This is where we calculate the aforementioned 'negative energy flux'.

This decrease, of course, cannot happen within *any* stage of the idealized sequence of stationary black holes which form the quasi-stationary process; as Hawking notes, no change can happen by definition. Instead, we say that this decrease applies to the *actual* time-dependent black hole where evaporation *can* occur. We do this by perturbing the mass parameter of the Schwarzschild metric, bringing it from one stationary state to another in a sequence of stationary states. This is the quasi-stationary process representing black hole evaporation. In short, we perform the conservation reasoning in the idealized stationary regime but apply the results of this reasoning to the realistic target system being modelled.

5.2 Quasi-staticity: the impossible process

The above use of quasi-stationarity is reminiscent of one commonly found in equilibrium thermodynamics. There, as is well-known, equilibrium states are those whose thermodynamic

²²Hawking (1975) and Frolov & Page (1993) are some exceptions.

parameters (e.g. volume, pressure, temperature, etc.) do not change with time. That is, equilibrium states are time-independent states. Yet, thermodynamics frequently make use of *quasi-static* processes consisting of sequences of these equilibrium states.²³ For instance, the famous Carnot cycle describing a system interacting with two heat baths with differing temperatures can be described on a pressure-volume diagram, where each point is a state with unchanging pressure and volume. (see Figure 1)



Figure 1: The typical Carnot cycle.

In these cases, we are modeling target systems that are *really* time-dependent using these idealized quasi-static processes. Typical thermodynamic objects change over time: our cup of coffee cool down – and our mug of beer warms up – over time. Nevertheless, if changes to these objects are slow and small enough, the system can be approximated with quasi-static processes, such that we can treat them as effectively time-independent at any point (or short interval) of time. We can then perform all thermodynamic calculations in terms of this quasi-static idealization, while keeping in mind that these calculations really apply to that underlying time-dependent process. This appears to vindicate the derivation for black hole evaporation – we assume quasi-stationarity for conservation reasoning, and then apply the fruits of this reasoning to the actual system, which is just what we do in classical thermodynamics.

Unfortunately, quasi-static processes in classical thermodynamics are not conceptually innocent. By inspecting why they work for classical thermodynamics, we can see why the analogous use of quasi-stationarity in the case of black hole evaporation does not.

²³See, for instance, Carathéodory (1909, 366).

As Norton (2016) recently argued, quasi-static processes, too, come with their own internal tensions. Quasi-static processes are constituted by 'sequences' of equilibrium states, each of which is approximated by an actual physical system at some time. These sequences are meant to be sequences of states *in time* – curves on thermodynamic state space (e.g. Figure 1) are parametrized by a time-like parameter. Furthermore, typical quasi-static processes describe variations in equilibrium states. Figure 1, for instance, includes curves with varying volume and pressure, although each point on these curves represents an equilibrium state. In other words, we are supposed to envision changes to these equilibrium states over time. Yet, equilibrium states do not change with time *by definition*. So on the face of it, quasi-static processes change over time, but also do not change over time – an outright contradiction.

The correct way to interpret quasi-static processes, as Norton argues, is not to take them to be actual processes with exactly those properties discussed above. Rather, actual processes only ever approximate quasi-static processes. The distinction between approximation and idealization is a subtle one, though one prominent distinction was recently introduced by Norton (2012). An approximation is characterized by being "an inexact description of a target system", while an idealization is "a real or fictitious system, distinct from the target system, some of whose properties provide an inexact description of some aspects of the target system." (Norton 2012, 209) Norton gives one simple example of this distinction: that of a body of unit mass falling in a weakly resisting medium. Its velocity v at time t is:

$$\frac{dv}{dt} = g - kv \tag{12}$$

where g is the acceleration due to gravity and k is a coefficient representing friction. When falling from rest at v = t = 0, its velocity can be expanded as:

$$v(t) = \frac{g}{k}(1 - e^{-kt}) = gt - \frac{gkt^2}{2} - \frac{gk^2t^3}{6} - \dots$$
(13)

When there is low friction (i.e. *k* is small), the fall of the ball is almost exactly described by:

$$v(t) = gt \tag{14}$$

In terms of Norton's distinction, we can say that (14) inexactly describes the ball's descent. However, we can, in Norton's terms, 'promote' this approximation to an idealization by having (14) directly refer to a fictitious system, that of a ball falling in a vacuum such that k = 0. Hence, (14) exactly describes such a system though the system need not exist (i.e. (14) is here an idealization), while it only provides an inexact description when the system is not in vacuum (i.e. (14) is here an approximation).

Using this distinction, we may understand quasi-static processes, taken literally, as idealizations – they can only be fictitious systems since they are contradictory in nature. These idealizations may *approximate* realistic, actual, systems, of course, but crucially this means that they need not share all properties with the actual system – they are *inexact* descriptions. For instance, we think that the target systems being approximated by quasi-static processes are still time-dependent ones. As Norton (2016) shows, sets of these time-dependent processes may come arbitrarily close to quasi-static processes by having e.g. vanishingly small driving forces, but no actual process ever has all the exact properties of quasi-static processes (with exactly vanishing driving forces at each point of time). We cannot simply 'take the limit' and let the driving force actually go to zero, for we have already seen how that leads to contradiction. As Norton puts it:

We have a sequence of [non-equilibrium] processes, each of which is slowed by diminishing the driving forces. Each process carries the property of completing a change, while requiring ever more time to do it. The limit of this property is the property of completing a change. The limit approached by the processes themselves, however, is no process at all. It is merely a static set of states in equilibrium that no longer carry the limit property of completing the change. (2016, 46)

Why, then, is the use of quasi-staticity still so widespread, despite the issues we have discussed? This is because quasi-static processes *do* approximate actual processes in a very concrete way, in terms of size of the driving forces, even though actual processes are *never* exactly quasi-static. We can explicitly see how systems with minuscule driving forces come close to being described by quasi-static processes. For large systems, the time-dependent driving forces are so minuscule relative to the dynamics of the system that we may neglect them for all practical purposes and model them (inexactly!) with quasi-static processes, though we must remember that these systems are *not* undergoing quasi-static processes. Real systems are simply undergoing time-dependent processes which are approximated by quasi-static processes in an inexact fashion. Importantly, Norton shows how we may recover standard thermodynamic results by working purely with time-dependent processes, without getting led astray in pathological cases like processes at the molecular scale.²⁴ All this is to say that the exact properties of quasi-staticity are never *essential* to doing thermodynamics. This is good news, since a system bearing the exact properties of quasi-staticity never exists, being contradictory in nature.

5.3 Idealization & de-idealization

The key lesson of the foregoing is simple but important: we must not confuse properties of the idealization with properties of the target system which approximates said idealization. Quasi-static processes contains properties of change and no-change, but only at the limit of zero driving force. Thankfully, it turns out that actual thermodynamic systems never have exactly those contradictory properties, and thermodynamics does not *essentially* require those

²⁴See Norton (2016) for discussion.

properties of quasi-staticity. That's why we may continue using quasi-static processes *qua* approximation.

The broad spirit of this lesson is neither new nor unique to Norton's works. A variety of principles in the philosophy of idealizations converge on this idea. As McMullin (1985) already wrote concerning Galileo's use of idealizations, idealizations²⁵ are typically justified by a clear *de-idealization* process demonstrating how we may remove the simplifications and distortions introduced in the idealization in order to describe realistic systems.²⁶

A kindred idea can be found in Earman (2004, 191) when he proposes a *Sound Principle* for interpreting the physical meaning of an idealized model: "While idealizations are useful and, perhaps, even essential to progress in physics, a sound principle of interpretation would seem to be that no effect can be counted as a genuine effect if it disappears when the idealizations are removed." That is, it is to show, in some concrete sense, that the idealization is *dispensable*. Similarly, Fletcher (2020) discusses Duhem's *principle of stability* as an plausible epistemological principle in scientific modeling. Roughly, the principle states that we are justified in inferring, from a model of some phenomenon, conclusions about said phenomenon only if these conclusions remain approximately true of the actual phenomenon when the modelling assumptions only approximately hold.²⁷

While these principles differ in subtle ways, for our purposes they emphasize the same point: to justifiably make inferences about a target system using an idealization, we must have a grasp of what happens when this idealization is removed – that is, we must have a de-idealization. For instance, to show in the case of phase transitions that an infinite particle number is not needed to make inferences about phase transitions in realistic systems is to show that an arbitrary large number would suffice.²⁸ This assumes, of course, that there is *some* way of describing *how* these modelling assumptions approximately hold. If we can show that there exists some de-idealization process for an idealized model, we would also have shown how results from this idealized model approximately hold beyond the model's idealized assumptions, and we can then investigate whether certain effects persist or otherwise, approximately, when the idealization is removed. In my view, then, these principles dovetail in demanding de-idealization in order to justifiably use an idealized model to make inferences about the world.

Conversely, though, if we *cannot* show how the model approximately holds beyond its idealized assumptions, then we are *not* justified in making conclusions about real-world phenomena from said model. The results from such models would appear to *essentially* require these idealizations, insofar as we cannot show how to obtain them *without* the idealization.

Returning to the case of thermodynamics discussed above, quasi-static processes are idealizations but they can also be adequately de-idealized in order to describe processes with

²⁵Specifically, he calls them "construct idealizations" for reasons extraneous to present discussion.

²⁶See also Weisberg (2007).

²⁷For more detailed discussion, see Fletcher (2020).

²⁸This is what Wu (2021) proves.

non-vanishing driving forces. While quasi-static processes *qua* idealizations are useful tools, they are not essential to the description of realistic systems – there is always a de-idealization procedure available in principle.

This consideration of whether a property of an idealized system is *essential* to the description of actual systems approximating said idealization has already been much discussed in the literature on the philosophy of thermodynamics. Concerning the physics of phase transitions, Callender (2001), Butterfield (2011), Menon & Callender (2013) Palacios (2018) and Wu (2021) have all argued, contra Batterman (2002, 2005) that the idealization of a system exactly at the thermodynamic limit is not essential to the understanding of phase transitions, and so the phenomenon of phase transitions does *not* require the actual existence of an idealized system (in this case, a system at the thermodynamic limit with infinite number of particles). Again, a de-idealization procedure is available. This is good news, because real systems undergoing phase transitions are finite and never have the exact (infinite) properties of the idealization. Likewise, as we have seen for the case of quasi-staticity and thermodynamics, quasi-staticity is not essential to thermodynamics. Actual processes are never quasi-static, though they might approximate certain features of quasi-static processes.

5.4 Quasi-stationary processes and (the lack of) de-idealization

So how does the above discussion bear on the issue of black hole evaporation? To start, the same issue with quasi-static processes arises here for quasi-stationary processes: real black holes *cannot* literally be undergoing quasi-stationary processes. Quasi-stationary processes do not refer to actual processes since black holes (or any process) cannot be both time-independent and time-dependent. As such, quasi-stationarity is an idealization. At best, a system may be inexactly described – *approximated* – by quasi-stationary processes.

We may then ask: is there a de-idealization procedure by which black holes are approximated by quasi-stationary processes? Furthermore, can this procedure give us something like the global conservation of energy without essentially requiring the idealization of quasistationarity? Given that the global conservation of energy is intricately bound up with the (global or asymptotic) symmetries of the spacetime in question, as suggested in §2, the search for approximate conservation of energy is bound up with the search for *approximate symmetries*, and, in turn, the idea of approximate Killing fields.²⁹ Quasi-stationarity suggests that the spacetime is *almost* stationary, and this suggests, in turn, the need for a procedure for

²⁹To my knowledge, discussion of symmetries is always bound up with discussion of Killing fields in general relativity. Hence, I take it that approximate symmetries should be understood in terms of approximate Killing fields. Granted, physics is always progressing, and I leave it open that there may be other means of de-idealizing or approximately understanding symmetries and conserved quantities, in which case the reader can understand my project as such: on one very natural way of de-idealizing conserved quantities, via approximate Killing fields, the task of de-idealization faces significant technical troubles. The question is whether these other approaches to de-idealization avoid the worry I raise here, something which can be a fruitful line of research for future work.

identifying whether an arbitrary spacetime approximates the structure of global *time-like Killing fields* – approximates a stationary spacetime – with which one may begin to justify the claim that energy is globally 'approximately conserved' in said spacetime.³⁰ If we can do so, then we might begin to make an argument for black hole evaporation from quasi-stationarity without essentially depending on the idealization of quasi-stationarity.

It seems to me, however, that there is no clear de-idealization procedure for quasi-stationary processes, in stark contrast to quasi-static processes. Specifically, I will argue that there is a conceptual difficulty in understanding just in what sense a spacetime approximately has a time-like Killing field (or Killing field in general), in stark contrast to the explicit convergence of time-dependent processes, with small enough driving forces, to quasi-static processes, in the case of thermodynamics.

To start off, there is a general worry against the *very idea* of approximate Killing fields, simply because of the nature of general relativity: there is generally no fixed maximally symmetric background spacetime structure against which we have a canonical way of considering deviations from symmetry, i.e. 'how close' a spacetime is to being symmetric. For example, there is a natural way in which one can consider deviation from symmetry in Newtonian spacetime (e.g. in terms of asphericity and almost rigid fields). Since Newtonian spacetime is maximally symmetric, flat, and non-dynamical, it provides a fixed background – akin to a spacetime ruler – against which we may measure deviations and closeness to symmetry.³¹ However, there is generally no such fixed background in general relativity with which we can construct such a canonical metric of closeness, save for the special case when the global spacetime is Minkowskian and we do have such a similarly maximally symmetric, flat, and non-dynamical spacetimes are generally not Minkowskian. *Prima facie*, this should warn us against hoping for too much when it comes to seeking approximate Killing fields for general spacetimes.

Building on this foundational conceptual worry, and related to this lack of a 'spacetime ruler', are three prominent problems related to various attempts at constructing approximate Killing fields.

Problem 1: 'closest' does not mean 'close'. These procedures typically provide no clear way to understand how 'close' a given vector field is to a Killing field, only that said vector field is, in fact, the closest. This means there is no clear way to understand the deviation from symmetry, and hence evaluate the accuracy of any claims about approximate conservation we might want to make. The fact that the closest In-N-Out burger place to me is in California (as I write from Southeast Asia) is no comfort, for there is no reasonable scale in which it is, in fact, close to me. The situation is worse here, since there isn't even a way to appropriately

³⁰Since, I'll argue, there is no such procedure, the argument here is just a hopeful schematic: if there is a clear way to parametrize how any arbitrary vector field approximates the structure of Killing vector fields, say with a parameter ϵ , we might see how terms vary along this field on the order of ϵ which can be taken to be arbitrarily small, that is, conserved insofar as ϵ can be ignored.

³¹I owe this point to private correspondence with Erik Curiel.

characterize the 'closeness' of a given vector field to a Killing field, unlike a ruler (or its ilk) for the distance between me and the nearest In-N-Out. Without such a notion of 'distance', it's not clear to me how one can understand the 'approximation' relation, since discussions of approximate symmetry typically employ some such distance function or at least some similarity relation.³²

Many extant procedures seek to find the 'next best thing' to Killing fields by some generalization of Killing's equation, which, if we recall, is:

$$\nabla_{\nu}\xi_{\mu} + \nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\nu} = 0 \tag{15}$$

As mentioned in §2, a Killing field satisfies this equation. However, for spacetimes without Killing fields, the equation generally has no nontrivial solutions (Matzner 1968, 1657). Instead, these procedures try to find generalized equations to which a Killing field is but one of many solutions. This is supposed to justify the other solutions as suitable generalizations of Killing fields, insofar as they belong to the same class of solutions. For instance, Beetle & Wilder (2014) employs an Euler-Lagrange equation of the form

$$\Delta_K u^\beta = \kappa_u u^\beta \tag{16}$$

where what they term the "Killing Laplacian" operator Δ_K is defined as:

$$\Delta_K u^\beta := -2\delta^{(\beta}_{\gamma} g^{\lambda)\nu} \nabla_\lambda \nabla_\nu u^\gamma \tag{17}$$

Here, u^{β} are vector field solutions to the equation with corresponding eigenvalues κ_u . As they note, Matzner (1968) employs a similar method (though in a slightly different form). This procedure simply defines the 'most' approximate Killing field for any given metric to be the vector field solution with the smallest κ_u greater than zero. (The solution with a vanishing eigenvalue corresponds to an actual Killing field.)

However, the problem is that this procedure fails to provide physical meaning to 'how close' these generalized fields are to Killing fields. As Matzner (1968, 1657) notes, "we do not have to assume the deviation from symmetry is small" when we are looking for the vector field which best approximates a Killing field. In other words, the most approximate vector field need *not* be close to being a Killing field at all. The approach simply finds a discrete spectrum of eigenvalues (and associated vectors), each increasingly 'further' away from being a Killing field. By stipulation, we pick the lowest non-zero eigenvalue and its associated vector field as the most approximate Killing field. Yet, it is not exactly clear in what sense these vector fields are 'close' to Killing fields, beyond the fact that these fields become Killing fields when their associated eigenvalues vanish. Along what dimension are these fields becoming 'closer' to being Killing fields, and how are we to understand this sort of 'distance'? In approximating

³²See Rosen (2008) for discussion of this distance function understood as a pseudometric, and Fletcher (2021) for more recent discussion.

quasi-static processes with systems possessing small driving forces, we can see how the size of the driving forces dictate the deviation from quasi-staticity. What does the ordering of these generalized vector fields mean here? As Chua & Callender observes (in a different context, of deriving time's emergence in quantum gravity): "at the level of pure math, one can "derive" virtually any equation from any other if one is allowed to assume anything. It makes no sense to say that one equation or quantity is "close" to another absent a metric." (2021, 1176) I think the same is precisely going on here. The approach in question does not provide a physical interpretation of this ordinal ordering of eigenvalues and associated vector fields. The only anchor is the formal fact that the Killing vector field appears as a solution of this more general class of equations, but what does this generalization amount to? Without a convincing story, it remains unclear what it means for a time-dependent physical system, like a black hole, to approximate a spacetime with a Killing field. All we know is that this field is not Killing, and that we can define a vector field on it which 'best' captures the properties of a Killing field. But is 'best' enough? Even if it does generate some vector field that is 'close' to Killing, it is still not clear how this is supposed to approximate a Killing field because we are not given a clear understanding of 'closeness'.

A different approach by Cook & Whiting (2007), adopted in some form by Lovelace et al (2008), has the same problem. This approach compares general vector fields to Killing vector fields on 2-spheres and identifies

$$S_{ij}S^{ij} = (\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}v)(\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu}v) - \frac{1}{2}(\nabla^{\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}v)^2$$
(18)

as a term which vanishes if said vector field satisfies the Killing equation (15).³³ They then represent how 'far' a vector field is from a Killing field by understanding $S_{ij}S^{ij}$ as an 'error' term and attempting to extremize $S_{ij}S^{ij}$. However, again, their approach only guarantees that $S_{ij}S^{ij}$ is "as close to zero as possible" (Cook & Whiting 2007, 2), but does not provide a clear sense of how close it actually is to a Killing field, and what the meaning of closeness in terms of S_{ij} amounts to physically. They admit that the usefulness of their results for an approximate Killing vector depends on the extent to which a physically meaningful story can be provided for them "since a Killing vector cannot be produced where one does not exist." (2007, 4) However, they crucially do not provide this story themselves. Yet, a physically meaningful sense in which the S_{ij} term represents 'approximation to a Killing field' seems to be exactly what we need here in the present discussion.

Another popular approach discussed by Bona et al (2005) faces the same problem. There is no clear metric for assessing how 'close' a given vector field is to being a Killing vector field. Bona et al employs yet another generalization of Killing vector fields via what they call the 'almost-Killing' equation. This equation generalizes from the Killing equation by showing that

 $^{^{33}}$ Here, v is a scalar field constructed by Cook & Whiting from the decomposition of a general vector field on 2-spheres.

solutions to the Killing equation are also solutions to the almost-Killing equation. Bona et al derives a "wave equation" of the following form:

$$\Box \xi_{\mu} + R_{\mu\nu} \xi^{\nu} + (1 - \lambda) \nabla_{\mu} (\nabla \cdot \xi) = 0$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

where \Box denotes the d'Alembertian operator, $R_{\mu\nu}$ is a Ricci term, and λ is a free parameter. They then show that, if ξ^{α} is a Killing vector, then it satisfies (19). This provides motivation to take (19) as the generalization of Killing's equation. However, essentially the same problem as the earlier approaches arises here. As Feng et al (2019, 5) point out, vector fields which satisfy the almost-Killing equation need not be in any meaningful sense 'close' to being Killing vector fields. Notably, Feng et al observes that any transverse-traceless tensor $Q_{\mu\nu}$ of the following form

$$Q_{\mu\nu} := \frac{1}{2} (\nabla_{\mu} \xi_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu} \xi_{\mu}) \tag{20}$$

satisfies the almost-Killing equation. Of course, when $Q_{\mu\nu} = 0$, that is equivalent to saying that the vector field ξ_{ν} satisfies the Killing equation since $Q_{\mu\nu} = 0$ is equivalent to the Killing equation (sans a factor of $\frac{1}{2}$). However, as they point out, $Q_{\mu\nu}$ need *not* vanish, and indeed "the components of $[Q_{\mu\nu}]$ need not be small." (Feng et al 2019, 5) Driving home the point I have been making so far, Feng et al remarks that "the term "almost Killing" is somewhat of a misnomer" because it's not guaranteed to be almost Killing at all. As with the other approaches I have examined so far, this approach, too, fails to provide a clear sense in which the solutions to these 'generalized' Killing fields actually approximate Killing fields.

In short, the first problem is that these approaches fail to provide a physically compelling story for what it means for this myriad of proposed vector fields to approximate a Killing field, and hence how one might go about de-idealizing the notion of energy conservation. Given the lack of a 'spacetime ruler' with which to provide a canonical measure of 'distance from symmetry', such a problem might be unsurprising: if there's no canonical measure of 'almost-symmetric' in general, then it might be moot to hope for a clear meaning to the claim that something is 'almost-Killing'.

Problem 2: no guarantee of time-like Killing fields. Many of these procedures for obtaining approximate Killing fields do not guarantee that we can obtain an approximate *time-like* Killing field, only that we can obtain *some* approximate Killing fields.³⁴ This means these procedures typically do not tell us how close a spacetime is to having a *time-like* Killing field, but only how close a spacetime is to having *some* Killing field at all. Note, then, that on these procedures a spacetime may not turn out to have anything approximating a time-like Killing vector field at all! These procedures do not necessarily help us de-idealize away from a spacetime with a *time-like* Killing field to a spacetime with some approximate time-like Killing field, but only to a spacetime with *some* Killing field. This, however, is of no help when

³⁴See, for instance, Matzner (1968), Cook & Whiting (2007), Lovelace et al (2008) and Beetle & Wilder (2014).

our goal is to find a de-idealization procedure for the energy conservation of a realistic black hole, in terms of an approximate *time-like* Killing field. What we seek here is a story for how any spacetime approximates one with energy conservation, not just one with any conserved quantity.

Problem 3: overly stringent assumptions. Many approximation procedures tend to feature strong assumptions which may not be realistic. As mentioned, one can derive almost anything from anything else if we assumed strong enough assumptions, but "approximations require physical justification." (Chua & Callender 2021, 1176) For instance, Matzner's (and Beetle & Wilder's) procedure requires the assumption that spacetime be compact. This is a *very* strong assumption. For one, an arbitrary spacetime can very well be unbounded and infinite, instead of compact, and it is in fact unclear whether our universe is in fact one or the other. Furthermore, a result due to Geroch (1967) suggests that any compact spacetime admits closed timelike curves.³⁵ It seems odd that one may only approximate Killing fields in compact spacetimes. As such, these procedures may not even be applicable to the actual world, in terms of which de-idealization would take place.

Another assumption that frequently shows up is some variant of an assumption of asymptotic flatness. For instance, Matzner's procedure can do without the compactness assumption, if one demands that certain terms of the class of vector fields in consideration vanish "at infinity", which amounts to some assumption of asymptotic flatness. (Matzner 1968, 1658) It also shows up as an assumption in the almost-Killing equation approach as one way to avoid some scathing problems with the approach. As Feng et al (2019) shows, a Hamiltonian analysis of the almost-Killing equation reveals that the Hamiltonian for this equation is generally unbounded from below. As they explain, "an unbounded Hamiltonian generally signals the presence of runaway instabilities, which can potentially drive solutions far from the Killing condition." (2019, 2) This means that the almost-Killing equation approach may generate approximate Killing fields which are not close to Killing at all. This returns us to the first problem.

Feng et al argues that we can avoid this problem for the almost-Killing approach if we assume a vacuum spacetime (for which we can motivate a specific choice of initial conditions, dynamical conditions, and λ parameter, hence obtaining a positive-definite Hamiltonian), or if we impose asymptotic flatness as a condition on the spacetime in consideration. (Feng et al 2019, 8) The former does not model any realistic spacetime and does not help us in our de-idealizing. What of the latter? Contrary to the earlier-discussed assumption of compactness, asymptotic flatness is not quite as controversial given its use in much of black hole physics. As such, it seems like a fairly tame assumption. However, I think that any procedure that *requires* the property of asymptotic flatness only passes the buck: we must then provide an account of whether we can de-idealize *that*. In the next section I examine asymptotic flatness in much more detail and argue that, again, we cannot appropriately de-idealize *that* for similar reasons

³⁵See e.g. Manchak (2013) for discussion of compactness.

discussed here.

To sum up, the extant procedures I have examined face three problems. Firstly, and most problematically, there is generally no sense in which a proposed approximate vector field is 'close' to a Killing field. Secondly, even *modulo* the first problem, we are not always guaranteed a time-like Killing field. Finally, some of these procedures involve strong and possibly unrealistic assumptions. This complicates the search for a de-idealization procedure away from quasi-stationary spacetime, by preventing us from stating just *how* we are supposed to de-idealize the properties of a Killing field, found only in stationary spacetimes, for non-stationary spacetimes. Granted, I have not proven a negative existential claim here: there *could* very well be a satisfactory procedure in the future. Nevertheless, the above concerns provide strong reasons to be concerned that the argument for black hole evaporation might be lacking in justification, insofar as we cannot explicate what it means for there to be an approximate global conservation law for energy via approximate Killing fields.

Taken together with the general worry that there is no canonical measure of 'deviation from symmetry' above, these problems should pose a significant challenge to anyone looking for an adequate de-idealization procedure which may allow us to relinquish the need for exact conservation of energy via Killing fields by appealing to approximate conservation via approximate Killing fields. (As I discuss in §6, identical problems return when discussing *asymptotically* Killing fields as well.)

Barring such a de-idealization procedure, it seems that anyone seeking to employ the quasi-stationary strategy for justifying global energy conservation and motivating black hole evaporation *essentially* needs the idealization of quasi-stationarity, in which a time-dependent evaporating system has time-independent properties, viz. that of having a conserved energy. In other words, one requires an idealized quasi-stationary process which cannot exist. So the argument for black hole evaporation from quasi-stationarity cannot take off yet, and we lack justification at present for using the property of global energy conservation in the *idealized* quasi-stationary system to infer that *actual* black holes, too, have this property.

Before moving on, I want to emphasize that I don't see my arguments here (or to follow) as a reason to abandon the *general* notion of black hole evaporation altogether, or that this is a reason to think that belief in black hole evaporation is unjustified *period*. Rather, I see this as a challenge for theorists who are keen to use the argument from energy conservation to black hole evaporation to provide a clearer understanding of what approximate (global or, as we'll see, asymptotic) conservation amounts to in the context of general relativity. Given the close ties between symmetries and conserved quantities, the question of what we mean by approximate symmetries must also be tackled.

6 Asymptotic flatness and de-idealization

One might agree with my arguments against quasi-stationarity above, but nevertheless pursue

a different strategy for motivating the global conservation of energy. After all, I mentioned in §2 that global time-like Killing fields are sufficient but not necessary for global conservation of energy; one can also appeal instead to *asymptotic* time-like Killing fields. For instance, Carroll acknowledges the question of energy conservation but responds that:

...even in quantum mechanics we have conservation of energy (in the sense, for example, of a conserved ADM mass in an asymptotically flat spacetime). Hence, when Hawking radiation escapes to infinity, we may safely conclude that it will carry energy away from the black hole, which must therefore shrink in mass. (2019, 417)

Note that ADM (Arnowitt-Deser-Misner) mass is conserved (indeed, can only be defined) in asymptotically flat spacetimes because of the asymptotic symmetries of said spacetime.³⁶ Asymptotically flat spacetimes can be considered to have the symmetries of Minkowski spacetime (and can be described by the flat Minkowski metric) *at* spatial infinity, and these symmetries allow for the existence of a time-like Killing field *at* spatial infinity. This then gives us a global conservation law for energy, from which we can, again, motivate black hole evaporation.

6.1 Asymptotic flatness

If a spacetime is asymptotically flat, then intuitively the 3-metric "approaches a Euclidean metric sufficiently rapidly at infinity." (Geroch 1972) Then, two metric conditions (among other differentiability conditions) must hold.³⁷ First, outside of some subset of spacetime (where it need not be flat and may contain exotic topological features like singularities), at some arbitrarily large (but finite) distance away from the black hole, the actual metric is equivalent to a Minkowskian metric $h_{\mu\nu}$ with error terms on the order of r^{-1} :

$$g_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$$
 (21)

Second, at the limit of spatial infinity:

$$g_{\mu\nu} \stackrel{r=\infty}{=} h_{\mu\nu} \tag{22}$$

In other words, at the limit of spatial infinity, the spacetime is Minkowskian and maximally symmetric. At this limit, we can take the spacetime to possess a time-like Killing field. We can then exploit this symmetry to define a type of global conservation law for energy via the so-called ADM mass mentioned by Carroll. Wallace, too, makes a similar argument:

³⁶Roughly speaking, we can define ADM mass as the total deviation of the actual spacetime metric from the flat Minkowski metric. More on this in §6.

³⁷See Geroch (1972, 960) for discussion.

Nonetheless we can give powerful arguments for [evaporation]. The most direct is via appeal to Noether's theorem, applied on a sphere surrounding, and far from, the black hole: in that regime, we expect to be able to treat the hole as an approximately-isolated system in a larger region of Minkowski spacetime. So the symmetries of Minkowski spacetime allow us to write a global conservation law and to argue that the sum of the ADM mass-energy of the black hole plus the total energy of the radiation outside the sphere – which is well defined, since that region is very nearly flat – should be conserved, and hence that the energy flux through the sphere ought to equal the rate of decrease of the black hole mass. (2018, 11)

For context, it is worthwhile to discuss the ADM mass in a little more detail.³⁸ The ADM approach starts from the Einstein action and derives a Lagrangian from that. Then, by demanding that spacetime be decomposable into time-like and space-like components (i.e. the so-called 3+1 dimensional form), while imposing coordinate conditions at spatial infinity (i.e. that spacetime is flat at $r = \infty$), we arrive at a Hamiltonian formalism and the canonical variables for the target spacetime. Using this formalism, the ADM mass is defined *at* spatial infinity as:

$$M_{ADM} = \lim_{r \to \infty} \oint (g_{ij,j} - g_{jj,i}) dS_i$$
(23)

where dS_i is the two-dimensional surface element *at spatial infinity*, and the indices *i*, *j* are over spatial components only. (Arnowitt, Deser and Misner 1962, 16) This integral defines a quantity that can be interpreted as the total energy (of *both* matter and gravity) over a chosen two-sphere, and is zero just when the *entire* spacetime – including the subset of spacetime we've left out to begin with – is Minkowskian.³⁹ Most impressive is the fact that this quantity, while seemingly coordinate-dependent, can be shown to be coordinate-*in*dependent, thus giving us more reason to believe that this quantity has physical meaning.

Note, however, that this integral is evaluated *at* the limit, and encapsulates Arnowitt, Deser and Misner's key idea that "the dynamical aspects of the theory are, as expected, to be found in the deviation of the metric from its flat space value." (16, 1962) As they note, "the basic requirement for an energy to be at all defined is, of course, that space-time become flat at spatial infinity". Only with a flat metric as a standard can we interpret the integral as the deviation from flatness and hence the total amount of energy (i.e. 'deviation from vacuum'). The integral is *not* well-defined, nor does it bear a clear physical interpretation, without the existence of flat space at spatial infinity at which it can be evaluated.

Furthermore, another reason why the ADM mass only has meaning *at* spatial infinity is that it is only *constant*, and hence conserved, at spatial infinity. As Ashtekar & Hansen (1978)

³⁸But only a little. The details can be found in the classic Arnowitt, Deser & Misner (1962).

³⁹These are supported by so-called positive mass theorems, first proven by Schoen & Yau (1979/1981).

notes,

Since, in special relativity, the 4-momentum [and hence energy] of a system is intimately intertwined with the group of translations, one might expect the situation to be similar in the present case. This expectation is correct: The 4-momentum emerges as a linear mapping from the space of translations to the reals. Thus, the basic definition of 4-momentum is tied with asymptotic symmetries on [spatial infinity]. (1986, 1556)

There is (generalized) time translation symmetry from which we can construct conserved quantities, just like in stationary spacetimes, because of the asymptotically Minkowskian structure at spatial infinity. As Geroch (1972) shows, we can recover the translation group symmetry (and the Poincare group symmetries in general) at spatial infinity, allowing us to introduce asymptotic Killing fields. By considering the conserved quantity along the time-like asymptotic Killing field, we can recover the ADM term straightforwardly. (1972, 965–966) Hence, the symmetries present *at* spatial infinity are what gives the ADM term a clear physical meaning – that of its conservation over time.

This conservation law for ADM mass is what motivates defenses of black hole evaporation like those of Carroll and Wallace above. Since ADM mass is conserved for the entire spacetime, any increase in energy at infinity via Hawking radiation must be compensated for by an decrease in energy elsewhere - i.e. the black hole. This then motivates black hole evaporation. *Prima facie*, this argument does not appear to rely on quasi-stationarity, only on the spacetime being asymptotically flat. It seems to avoid the worries I raised above concerning the essential nature of the idealization of quasi-stationarity, and the need for global time-like Killing fields, in motivating a global conservation law for energy.

While this response seems *prima facie* fruitful, and lines up well with practice, it is nevertheless unsatisfactory for a variety of reasons.

6.2 Asymptotic flatness, stationarity, and quasi-stationarity

Let me start first with a minor point. Typical examples of *exactly* asymptotically flat spacetimes like Schwarzschild spacetime, or, more generally, stationary spacetimes are simply non-starters for modelling black hole evaporation, since the dilemma essentially returns. No change to the mass parameter ever occurs in these spacetimes. Furthermore, as Duerr (2021) notes, the general class of *non*-stationary asymptotically flat spacetimes – the Robinson-Trautman class of metrics describing expanding gravitational waves – are marred by *naked singularities*,⁴⁰ and there is a history in physics of an aversion towards singularities due to their seemingly unphysical nature.⁴¹ So it seems, naively, that we are again at a dilemma: stationary asymptotically

⁴⁰See e.g. Chruściel 1992 or Podolsky & Svitek (2005). The aforementioned Vaidya metric belongs to this class of metrics.

⁴¹See e.g. Earman 1995, Penrose 1999 for a survey of the orthodoxy.

flat spacetimes do *not* change in time and so black holes in these spacetimes do not evaporate, while non-stationary asymptotically flat spacetimes *do* change in time but are generically unphysical.

On the face of it, a reply is available: we can rely on quasi-stationarity to model a dynamical black hole changing over time, but *without* relying on it essentially for deriving a global conservation law for energy. We can still model an evaporating black hole with a slowly evolving sequence of stationary asymptotically flat spacetimes (e.g. Schwarzschild spacetimes) by slowly perturbing their mass. However, instead of using *stationarity* to generate the conservation of energy and justify the perturbation of mass in our quasi-stationary process (and hence leading to contradiction), it's the asymptotically flat nature of spacetime which generates an asymptotic conservation law (e.g. of the ADM mass term). It is *this* asymptotic conservation law – not the one given by stationarity *per se* is not essential to our derivation of this asymptotic conservation law, quasi-stationarity *per se* is not essential to our derivation of this asymptotic conservation law, quasi-stationarity – and the problematic approximate global time-like Killing fields –is not required essentially and hence the problems raised in §5 are avoided.

Furthermore, we can ensure the existence of an asymptotic conservation law by noting that every spacetime in the quasi-stationary sequence is asymptotically flat, so that the conservation reasoning always holds from one stage of the quasi-stationary process to another. Since the properties of asymptotic flatness and non-stationarity are not contradictory at each stage, unlike the properties of stationarity and non-stationarity, there is no problem with using quasi-stationarity here as an *approximation* - the idealized, exactly quasi-stationary, process is never required essentially in this argument.

6.3 Asymptotic flatness as idealization

So far, so good. The idealization of quasi-stationarity is not required essentially, and so we avoid the contradictions inherent in that idealization. This is fine so long as we are justified in using the idealization of asymptotic flatness in this case. However, it seems to me that we've merely swapped out one conceptually problematic idealization for another.

To begin, note that deriving the ADM mass required the property of the *existence* of flat spacetime at spatial infinity: the ADM integral is evaluated, and the relevant asymptotic translation symmetries defined, *at* spatial infinity. As Hoefer (2000) and Duerr (2021) have pointed out, however, actual black holes in our universe do *not* live in asymptotically flat spacetimes, since our universe is *not* asymptotically flat. The best model of our universe – with its predictions (or retrodictions, if one likes) of the Big Bang and the accelerating expansion of the universe – is an asymptotically *de Sitter* Friedman-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) spacetime with a *positive cosmological constant* Λ approaching a (dark energy dominated) de

Sitter spacetime in the infinite future.⁴²

Prima facie, this is a two-fold problem for arguments from energy conservation to black hole evaporation via asymptotic flatness.⁴³ First, we cannot simply import the results for asymptotically flat spacetimes to describe our world. As Bonga & Hazboun (2017, 2) notes, "Since de Sitter spacetime is globally very different from Minkowski spacetime, and most FLRW spacetimes, *none of these calculational tools extend to de Sitter spacetime.*" Second, and worse, there is *no* notion of spatial infinity for asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes, and so the ADM approach cannot even begin here. The de Sitter metric can be written as:

$$ds^2 = -dt^2 + \cosh^2 t d\Omega^2 \tag{24}$$

where $d\Omega^2$ is the metric on a unit 3-sphere for 4-dimensional spacetime. As Witten (2001, 1) notes, the spatial sections of such a spacetime, defined by 3-spheres, are spatially compact, and so there is no notion of spatial infinity. In other words, asymptotic flatness does not hold. The relevant asymptotics here are along the *time-like* direction, i.e. future and past infinity. Furthermore, the time-like Killing vectors for de Sitter space do not easily lend themselves to a physical interpretation, since "there is no asymptotic Killing vector that is globally timelike" here. (Balasubramanian, de Boer & Minic 2002, 1) As Witten explains:

In de Sitter space, there is no positive conserved energy. In fact, no matter what generator we pick [...] the corresponding Killing vector field, though perhaps timelike in some region of de Sitter space, is spacelike in some other region. (Witten 2001, 1)

Some observers could observe a *negative* conserved energy while others observe a positive conserved energy. Barring exotic accounts of energy, this suggests that there is no physical notion of energy conservation to be defined in this regime. This lines up well with the observation that non-static FLRW spacetimes generically do *not* have a conserved energy.⁴⁴

In short, then, the assumption of asymptotic flatness, taken literally, cannot hold true of our universe. Arguments for black hole evaporation made in asymptotically flat spacetimes still need to be de-idealized in terms of our actual universe, and for the question of whether black holes in our actual universe in fact evaporate. In particular, actual black holes are *not* literally surrounded by flat spacetime at infinity (and this notion may indeed not even be a possibility at all if our universe is asymptotically de Sitter), yet the existence of flat spacetime at infinity is required for the ADM mass to be defined and for it to be meaningfully conserved in time. If our spacetime is asymptotically de Sitter, then there is seemingly *no* physical global notion of

⁴²See e.g. Fischler et al 2001, Rubin & Hayden 2016.

⁴³Although Duerr is a little more sanguine when he says that "it remains to be seen whether the symmetries of de Sitter space allow for a satisfactory formal definition of gravitational energy", I think the situation is a little worse off here.

⁴⁴See e.g. Mitra (2012).

energy conservation to be found. Without a well-defined conservation law for energy, we are still unable to motivate black hole evaporation from Hawking radiation. The present argument from asymptotic flatness has not yet vitiated black hole evaporation.

6.4 De-idealizing asymptotic flatness

The critic might insist that there is no need for asymptotic flatness to be *literally* true of the *entire universe* for an asymptotically flat metric to successfully *approximate* certain systems. Asymptotic flatness may well be an idealization, but an asymptotically flat metric can be (and have been) used effectively to *approximate* isolated systems. If so, we can help ourselves to the existence of flatness at spatial infinity *for all practical purposes*. This then means the existence of an approximately conserved ADM mass is all but guaranteed. I take this to be what Wallace (2018, 11) means in the quote above when he says that far from the black hole, "we expect to be able to treat the hole as an approximately-isolated system in a larger region of Minkowski spacetime" and that "the symmetries of Minkowski spacetime allow us to write a global conservation law" for the ADM term since "that region is very nearly flat".

Agreed: the theme of the previous section is precisely that idealizations can be used fruitfully, *provided* we can provide a clear de-idealization procedure for justifying their use. However, I think the last – crucial – step in the above argument, from approximate asymptotic flatness to the existence of an approximately conserved ADM mass is too quick. Even if the asymptotically flat metric successfully approximates an isolated system, it still does not mean that we can help ourselves to *all* of its idealized properties. Recall the distinction we made between approximation and idealization when discussing quasi-staticity and quasi-stationarity. That a process can be approximated by quasi-staticity and quasi-stationarity does *not* mean that it has *all* the properties of quasi-static or quasi-stationary processes. Likewise, when we say that a black hole can be *approximated* by an asymptotically flat metric, we mean that this metric *inexactly* describes the black hole. Some (perhaps most) properties of this metric describe the black hole to some degree of accuracy, though *not all*.

It seems to me that the property of flatness at spatial infinity only obtains *at the limit* $r = \infty$, and hence do *not* describe any realistic black holes, since that would mean that the universe is literally empty but for a black hole in its center. Only a (fictitious) black hole with *literally* nothing else in the universe, i.e. flat spacetime at $r = \infty$, is exactly described by the asymptotically flat metric, but this is an *idealization*.

So the question remains: when a realistic system, such as a black hole or a star, is approximated by an asymptotically flat metric, what properties of this metric can be expected to apply approximately to said system 'before the limit' as $r \to \infty$, and which ones only apply when $r = \infty$ and essentially depend on this idealization? The former properties are unproblematic and can be taken to approximately hold for said systems, but the latter can only be said to apply to non-existent fictitious systems like the lone black hole. In Duerr's words, the latter may be thought of as 'idle posits' of the idealization which do not refer to properties in the actual system being modelled. Is flatness at spatial infinity something that can be recovered approximately 'before the limit', or must it require the limit properties of our fictitious black hole? To put it another way, is there a suitable de-idealization procedure for asymptotic flatness before r reaches infinity?

To answer this question, we can consider an archetypal use of the asymptotically flat metric: modelling the exterior of a approximately isolated star. This seems to be just the right sort of system to be (and that has been) modelled by an asymptotically flat metric, such as the Schwarzschild metric. (More on *why* they work, in §6.5.) One way to de-idealize would be to compare the Schwarzschild spacetime with what obtains when we model this star in a (more) realistic spacetime. Only those properties that remain in this more realistic spacetime can be de-idealized, while those properties that only obtain in Schwarzschild spacetime may be said to be non-essential to (more) realistic modelling. One prominent case has been discussed in the literature: when we consider instead a spacetime modelling an approximately isolated system but with a cosmological constant $\Lambda > 0$ – like the de Sitter spacetime – the property of asymptotic flatness *never obtains*.⁴⁵

This suggests that asymptotic flatness is non-essential for modelling realistic stars and is an 'idle posit' of the Schwarzschild metric. In this spacetime, the metric does *not* approach a flat one as $r \to \infty$. Furthermore, there is *no* flat Minkowskian region at $r = \infty$. Taking into account any non-zero cosmological constant renders this impossible. As Ashtekar et al (2016) observes, for an isolated system radiating gravitational waves, the asymptotically de Sitter spacetime (which represents the existence of a non-zero cosmological constant) at $r = \infty$ does *not* admit a preferred four-dimensional group of translations unlike a case where $\Lambda = 0$, that is, a case where there is no cosmological constant. In other words, for more realistic spacetimes,⁴⁶ the spacetime do not even begin to approach one with the relevant symmetries for defining something like the ADM mass.⁴⁷

⁴⁵Koberinski & Smeenk (2023) discusses similar problems where the quasi-stationary (what they call *adiabatic*) and asymptotically flat assumptions break down, though in the context of critiquing the methods of effective field theories.

⁴⁶One example of an asymptotically de Sitter spacetime with a black hole is the Schwarzschild-de Sitter spacetime.

 $^{^{47}}$ Rather than use the ADM approach, as the quotes from Carroll and Wallace suggest, we can try to use the Bondi-Sachs approach instead (see e.g. Mädler & Winicour 2016). The Bondi-Sachs approach defines a mass term for a system (the 'Bondi mass') by "integrating over an instant of time at null infinity" (Belot 2023, 115), using the symmetries of asymptotically flat spacetimes which only obtain *at* null infinity – the so-called BMS group – rather than the Poincare group *at* spatial infinity. The Bondi mass is conserved at null infinity unless there is gravitational radiation, in which case it varies with time depending on the 'Bondi news function' which is usually interpreted as energy loss due to gravitational radiation at null infinity. See Fletcher (2024, §4.4) for some worries with this interpretation.

While my worries about the ADM approach do not directly apply to the Bondi-Sachs approach since the latter is not defined at spatial infinity, it also crucially relies on asymptotic flatness and the BMS symmetries *at* null infinity, and thus faces similar daunting challenges when it comes to de-idealization. On the one hand, the worries about approximate Killing fields arise (see p. 33 for more discussion) – in what sense can non-asymptotically-

One might argue that we could try to find an approximately asymptotically flat spacetime by taking the limit $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$, i.e. where we assume that the cosmological constant is vanishingly small and hence approaches an asymptotically flat spacetime. If we can do so, then we can show how there is a clear sense in which the more realistic asymptotically de Sitter spacetime is 'almost like a spacetime without a cosmological constant', such as an asymptotically Minkowski – flat – spacetime. From there we might then begin to define something like an approximately conserved ADM mass. However, Ashtekar et al (2016, 2–3) show that we will observe discontinuities in the energy term as $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$. Koberinski and Smeenk (2023, 12) say the same: "Minkowski spacetime is qualitatively different from de Sitter spacetime, no matter how small the value of Λ . Furthermore, the $\Lambda \rightarrow 0$ limit is not continuous, as illustrated by the contrast in conformal structure." All this is to say, there is a *qualitative* difference between the asymptotically de Sitter spacetime and the asymptotically flat spacetime.

Furthermore, these differences are non-trivial and may be empirically significant. In short, they cannot be ignored. As Ashtekar (2017) notes, these factors *do* have physical implications for the system being modelled. For instance, while there is no such limit in asymptotically flat spacetimes, there *is* a novel observationally viable limit on the mass of nonrotating black holes embedded in de Sitter space of $M_{lim} = \frac{1}{3}\Lambda^{\frac{1}{2},48}$ which has been corroborated by numerical simulations.⁴⁹ In other words, the properties of the asymptotically flat metric do not even accurately model the system *as* $r \to \infty$, i.e. 'before the limit', since it misses out on predictions which the more realistic spacetime provides. As Ashtekar et al (2016, 4) notes:

A priori, one cannot be certain that the effects of Λ would be necessarily negligible because, irrespective of how small its value is, its mere presence introduces several

flat spacetimes have approximate asymptotic symmetries and hence approximately asymptotically conserved quantities? On the other hand, to what extent can we retain the physical predictions made using asymptotic flatness, when we remove asymptotic flatness by moving to more realistic spacetimes like asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes? As Saw (2016, 24-25) summarizes, there is significant difficulty in defining the Bondi mass for asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes with a positive cosmological constant. Ashtekar (2017) notes that there are no suitable symmetries at null infinity for asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes which lets us define an analog of the Bondi news term and a possibly-conserved Bondi mass. Furthermore, as Ashtekar & Dray (1981) noted, while null infinity is fairly unproblematic for stationary spacetimes and even some special cases of non-stationary ones, there is no proof that it exists in generic, physically reasonable, non-stationary spacetimes. Finally, as Belot (2023, Ch. 6, p. 115) points out, "...already in de Sitter spacetime there are no globally defined time translations – which renders it impossible to give a general definition of the energy of a system located in a de Sitter spacetime. This problem carries over to the asymptotically de Sitter regime: time translations do not appear among the asymptotic symmetries according to any of the standard explications of the notion of an asymptotically de Sitter spacetime." More generally, Belot worries that "In contrast to their [asymptotically flat] analogs, [asymptotically de Sitter spacetimes] prove to be unsuited for the analysis of conserved quantities and of the flow of gravitational radiation" (116), and that talk about conserved quantities cannot be brought beyond the asymptotically flat case. I don't think these questions are *a priori* impossible to answer, but as Belot notes, these are challenging open questions, ones I cannot continue to pursue in this paper as it will take us too far afield.

⁴⁸See Shibata et al (1994).

⁴⁹See e.g. Zilhão et al (2012).

conceptual complications requiring a significant revision of the standard framework. [...] Some of the subtleties associated with a nonzero Λ could be important for future detectors such as the Einstein Telescope that will receive signals from well beyond the cosmological radius. They may also be important for the analysis of the very long wavelength radiation produced by the first black holes. (2016, 4)

So it seems that the more realistic asymptotically de Sitter spacetime does *not* possess the properties of asymptotic flatness. Nevertheless, it does allow us to recover the predictions made by asymptotically flat metrics, with a caveat:

In the post-de Sitter, first post-Newtonian approximation, it shows that these complications are harmless for binary systems that are the primary targets of the current observatories. (Ashtekar et al 2016, 4)

What this suggests is that we *can* recover the predictions of asymptotically flat spacetimes with more realistic de Sitter spacetimes, *provided we do not go to cosmological scales*.

In one fell swoop, then, this de-idealization procedure has yielded us two results. Firstly, we learn that the property of asymptotic flatness, that spacetime is flat at $r = \infty$, never obtains in a more realistic setting. Properties which depend on asymptotic flatness, in turn, never obtain either. Furthermore, there is no clear sense in which a spacetime with $\Lambda > 0$ approximates a spacetime with $\Lambda = 0$ by 'taking the limit', as we run into discontinuities along the way, suggesting a stark qualitative difference between asymptotically de Sitter spacetime and asymptotically flat spacetime: there is no precise way in which one is 'arbitrarily close' to the other (similar to the situation between approximate and exact Killing fields).

Secondly, we can nevertheless accept that asymptotically flat metrics, with $\Lambda = 0$ have so far been extremely successful. But we can now explain *why* they worked. The de-idealization procedure above suggests that the empirical content generated by these asymptotically flat metrics can be captured by more realistic $\Lambda > 0$ spacetimes. This is simply because these metrics are approximately accurate *up to cosmological scales*. (more on approximate accuracy in §6.6.) However, as we follow the limit of $r \to \infty$, we will find that the model fails to take into account realistic factors affecting the system being modelled, such as $\Lambda > 0$, by assuming that the metric simply approaches a Minkowskian one along this limiting procedure. Once we arrive at scales where Λ is relevant, the asymptotically flat metric breaks down.

Given these two results, we can begin to see how we can rescue all the empirical predictions of asymptotic flat metrics, without actually demanding that asymptotic flatness actually obtains. The more realistic model simply does not have it. Flatness at spatial infinity should therefore be seen as a property of an idealized – fictitious – system, as with all the properties depending on flatness at spatial infinity.

At this point, one might worry: yes, flatness at spatial infinity does not actually obtain in this more realistic model, so there are no symmetries at infinity we can rely on to define a conserved

ADM mass. However, we can surely find a region around a system of interest, like a black hole, where spacetime is approximately flat. If we have this, the hope is that we can construct approximate Killing fields along which ADM mass is approximately conserved, *even in this more realistic spacetime*. After all, from eq. 21 we saw that a generically asymptotically flat metric can be described, far away from the source, as a Minkowskian metric plus higher-order terms depending on r^{-1} as it approaches spatial infinity. This is true even if we don't have the exactly Minkowskian metric at spatial infinity. Why can't we just use the asymptotically Minkowskian metric to define asymptotic Killing fields at infinity, but de-idealize by using the higher order terms to define 'perturbed' Killing vector fields?

In my view, the problem is that the discussion from §5.4 applies here as well: there is no good way to exactly understand 'approximate' (or 'perturbed') Killing fields yet, and essentially the same goes for *asymptotically* approximate Killing fields. We can generate 'approximate' Killing fields which are 'closest' to being Killing, but this does not actually guarantee that they are 'close' to being Killing, and we cannot guarantee that these 'approximate' Killing fields are time-like ones with which we can justify approximate energy conservation. This is crucial, because the de-idealization procedure appears to be incomplete otherwise: what we cared about is not the flatness of asymptotic regions per se, but how this flatness can be used to define conserved quantities via its symmetries. So, even if we can show that the relevant spacetime is approximately Minkowskian in one sense (in terms of the fall-off decreasing with distance), we need to show that this approximation can be used to meaningfully understand approximate conservation of energy. But this requires not only that the spacetime approximately becomes flat, but that this approximately flat spacetime also *approximately has the right symmetries that* we care about, with which we can approximately define global conservation of energy. This is what lets us say that some quantity is approximately conserved – and the extent to which they are conserved – at some finite but large distance away from the source. This seems to me to require a grasp of approximate Killing fields, but that is what I am arguing remains out of reach for now.

Finally, recall that the third problem with approximate Killing fields concerned the reliance of approximating procedures on certain assumptions. Compactness was discussed as an overly stringent assumption, and I left open the discussion on asymptotic flatness. *If* we can assume asymptotic flatness, then we can start with defining certain approximate Killing fields (modulo the above two problems). However, the foregoing discussion suggests that asymptotic flatness cannot obtain given realistic modelling. This suggests that asymptotic flatness, too, is a property of the idealization that does not remain once we attempt to de-idealize, and is likewise an overly stringent assumption.

It thus seems that the defense from approximate asymptotic flatness to an approximately conserved ADM mass, from which we may deduce black hole evaporation, is unjustified for realistic systems given the present understanding of one justifies idealizations via deidealizations. Demanding asymptotic flatness at spatial infinity leads to *inaccuracy* beyond a certain distance scale by failing to take into account well-observed cosmological effects like a nonzero Λ . De-idealizing a system away from asymptotic flatness, especially for realistic systems, requires the *abandonment* of asymptotic flatness. Furthermore, predictions made with asymptotically flat metrics can be recovered in these more realistic metrics, *without* the property of asymptotic flatness. This suggests that asymptotic flatness is *not* essential to these predictions. Yet, it is precisely asymptotic flatness that is required to define a conservation law for the ADM mass.⁵⁰ We *need* flat spacetime at spatial infinity to compute the ADM integral, and to generate the appropriate asymptotic symmetries.

If so, the inference of black hole evaporation in our actual world, from asymptotic flatness, lacks justification: this argument requires *essentially* the property of asymptotic flatness, yet exactly this property does not obtain for realistic systems.

6.5 Quarantining the idealization

One might now worry that my argument has gone too far. Isn't asymptotic flatness an ubiquitously used property? For instance, the deflection of light near a gravitating object (or gravitational lensing), as well as the derivation of the famous perihelion precession of Mercury, are cornerstone predictions of general relativity. Numerous measurements have been made which verify these predictions. Importantly, these predictions were historically calculated on an asymptotically flat metric (specifically, the Schwarzschild metric). If asymptotic flatness does not obtain, must one then abandon asymptotic flatness for modelling purposes *completely*? Given how commonplace the use of asymptotic flatness is, and how important some predictions made using asymptotically flat metrics are (say, for confirming general relativity over Newtonian gravity), surely the burden of proof is on us; we appear to be arguing for *too much*.

I have already argued that we can preserve many predictions made in these asymptotically flat metrics even without asymptotic flatness, as with asymptotically de Sitter metrics up to a certain distance scale. However, given the foundational status of asymptotic flatness, I will attempt to further assuage this worry by considering what *work* the property of asymptotic flatness does for these cornerstone cases, and how that differs from the case of black hole evaporation.

In my view, asymptotically flat metrics are successful in generating these predictions – which then allow us to, for example, test and confirm the theory of general relativity over Newtonian gravity and other competitors – *not* because its asymptotic properties *exactly* hold. We can see this by examining the conceptual role of asymptotic flatness in these benign cases.

What we want to achieve in these cases, by using asymptotically flat metrics for modelling, is to formally capture a specific property of the target physical phenomena: we care *only* about what general relativity has to say about the gravitational effects of some particular mass

⁵⁰Another intuitive way to see this is that, in Penrose conformal diagrams, spatial infinity is quite literally a point in spacetime *at which* calculations are performed. This suggests that results based on spatial infinity requires the realization of the limit.

on some test particle, and want to consider it as an isolated system, that is, without external influences. By demanding asymptotic flatness, we demand that there is *nothing* in the universe but the gravitating mass; this is what it means to say that spacetime is flat at spatial infinity. Go infinitely far enough away from that one gravitating mass and you'll see nothing. But what justifies the use of this model, in these cases, is *not* the fact that there *really* is nothing at spatial infinity, or even that there *is* an actual realized spatial infinity. Indeed, since what we care about in these cases is the *effect* of the gravitating mass on the test particle, the flat part at spatial infinity is empirically *redundant* insofar as it implies the gravitating mass has *no* effect there.

What justifies the use of the asymptotically flat metric in these cases, then, is *precisely* the fact that the predictions generated on it hold approximately *even when* the limit property – that of flatness at spatial infinity – does *not* hold (as discussed in the previous subsection). How does the de-idealization procedure work in these cases? It is the fact that we can generate predictions from an idealized model of an isolated gravitating system, which we can then de-idealize by seeing how our measurements for said phenomenon matches up *approximately* to these predictions. After all, there *are* external influences beyond the system in consideration: we see other planets, stars, galaxies, and so on. However, predictions produced by this idealized model nevertheless match up to our measurements *to a high degree of precision*, giving us confidence to say that this system can be regarded as *approximately* isolated. Crucially, it is *not* the fact that the predictions *exactly* match our measurements, for which asymptotic flatness will be demanded.

Recall the spirit of the discussion of de-idealization, Earman's sound principle, and Duhem's principle of stability from §5.3: even when the idealization does not literally hold true, we must still show in a clear way that the predictions based on this idealization approximately holds in some sense: the predictions must be 'close' enough to reality. What we should also say is that the relevant de-idealization also depends on what you are trying to extract from these idealizations. For these benign cases, note that *no talk of approximate Killing fields* is needed to get this de-idealization procedure going for the relevant predictions and modeled behavior. Instead, we can quite straightforwardly show how the prediction holds approximately for the target phenomenon: we have the appropriate *measurements* demonstrating that the predictions hold true of the actual phenomenon to a high degree of precision. The measurements, then, provide justification for continuing to use the idealized asymptotically flat metric, so long as we recognize that asymptotic flatness is in fact an idealization and not *essential* to the use of this model.

Here's a concrete example: the observational verification and confirmation of relativistic predictions of gravitational lensing over Newtonian predictions. In my view, what mattered in the experimental verification of gravitational lensing was *not* that the calculation *exactly* matched the observations made during, say, the 1919 eclipse, which *would* have made *all* the properties of the metric, including asymptotic flatness, essential for said prediction. Rather, what mattered was two things.

Firstly, it was the fact that these predictions could be compared to the Newtonian calculation for the *same idealized situation*: that of an isolated point mass gravitating near a ray of light. General relativity predicted that a ray of light will be deflected by 1.75 arcseconds near the Sun, *double* the deflection calculated by Newtonian gravity (0.875 arcseconds).

Secondly, these predictions were tested against numerous measurements where the criterion for confirmation or verification is *not* the exact matching of predictions to measurements, but only *approximate* consistency in the sense that the predictions fell within the measured results *and the margins of error*. As it turns out, the measurements were consistently closer to the relativistic predictions, *contra* the Newtonian calculations. For instance, the Oxford measurements yielded a deflection of 1.60 ± 0.31 arcseconds (0.91 ± 0.18 times the relativistic predicted value), while the Sobral expedition measurements yielded a deflection of 1.98 ± 0.12 arcseconds (1.13 ± 0.07 times the predicted value). Future measurements continued to be consistent with general relativity, *in the sense that* they are *approximately* the same as relativistic predictions, and differ from Newtonian ones.⁵¹ Note the errors in the measurements which confirmed relativistic predictions: the confirmation of general relativity, via gravitational lensing measurements, does *not* require exact matching of predictions.

In this case, these margins of error provide us with an appropriate de-idealization procedure, by telling us how the predictions do not hold exactly of the target phenomenon, but *only approximately*. In the case of asymptotically flat metrics, we readily see how the measurements *approximate* the idealized predictions made within an asymptotically flat metric. If the idealization *had* held, the measurements would have to hold *exactly* or to *arbitrarily high* degrees of precision. But we never expect it to do so; only that it holds up to a *high degree of precision*, that is to say, *not exactly*.⁵²

It is in this way that such uses of asymptotically flat metrics to generate predictions about astrophysical objects, despite their idealized nature, are justified. Cases like the predictions of gravitational lensing, or the perihelion precession of Mercury, all fall under such uses. Their main goal is to generate relativistic predictions of what is going on in the *non-flat* portion of the asymptotically flat metric.

More generally, the reason why asymptotically flat metrics can still be used to fruitfully model approximately isolated systems is *not* because of the entire global structure of these metrics, but simply a finite patch of it. Specifically, if §6.4 is right, it is that patch where r is smaller than cosmological scales where Λ may be ignored.⁵³ To quote Duerr again:

⁵¹See Will (2015) for a historical account of the measurements of gravitational lensing.

⁵²The same moral holds for the prediction of the perihelion precession of Mercury: we see how the idealized predictions of general relativity can be de-idealized, when we see how measurements of the perihelion precession of Mercury is accurate *to a high degree of precision*, that is to say, *not exact*.

⁵³I take it that this is the spirit of Ellis' (2002) proposal to study 'finite infinity' and find out "an effective 'infinity' to use" amounts to, "in discussing boundary conditions for local physical systems", given that real systems are never asymptotically flat and so on.

the working posits of successful asymptotically flat models aren't their fall-off behaviour at infinity. Rather, they are the right fall-off behaviour *up to cosmological scales*: All empirical content is garnered from the properties of a *finite* patch of an asymptotically flat spacetime. But it's, of course, the behaviour *at infinity* that is salient of asymptotic flatness. (2021, 27)

In other words, asymptotic flatness is an *idle posit* of asymptotically flat metrics. No realistic systems being modelled by this family of metrics ever have the limit property of asymptotic flatness. Furthermore, these idealized metrics work well even if asymptotic flatness never *really* holds, because we can extract testable predictions, by just considering a finite patch of this spacetime, with which our measurements are *approximately* consistent. The de-idealization of predictions made within these idealized metrics occurs when we see that our verification of these predictions are always made with the acceptance of measurement errors. That is to say, we never expect these predictions to hold *exactly*, only to a high degree of precision. This then justifies the belief that a system in question so measured, despite never being *truly* isolated, nevertheless can be understood as being *approximately* isolated.

This is in stark contrast to the argument for black hole evaporation, for which (i) we have no measurements to help us in the de-idealization process since the predicted Hawking effect is exceedingly weak, and, more importantly, (ii) essentially relies on the idealized property of asymptotically flat metrics, that is, of *asymptotic flatness*, because we require the asymptotic symmetries for our asymptotically conserved quantities. As we have seen in §6.1, defining the global conservation of ADM mass *requires* the realization of the asymptotically flat metric by requiring the *existence* of the Minkowskian metric at spatial infinity. De-idealizing away from the asymptotically flat metric leads to a loss of this property for two reasons, as argued for in §6.4: first, more realistic modelling, taking into account Λ , cannot demand asymptotic flatness. Second, the definition of ADM mass depends on the presence of asymptotic Killing fields; where there are none, as in realistic situations, de-idealization demands that we produce some approximate notion of these, with which we might perhaps see how ADM mass is 'approximately' conserved. However, as I have argued in §5.4, extant procedures do not generate a satisfying account of how their generated vector fields actually 'approximate' Killing fields.

If this is right, then we should really understand the use of asymptotically flat metrics to be justified only for small-scale systems (relative to cosmological scale), and only approximately. Notably, this approximation does *not* include approximate asymptotic flatness. But this already allows us to capture a large swath of actual practice making predictions about astrophysical systems, especially those cornerstone uses which helped us confirm general relativity over Newtonian gravity.

Two more contemporary uses of asymptotic flatness also merit brief discussion as to how they differ from the use of asymptotic flatness for deriving black hole evaporation via global conservation. Firstly, what about the accretion of matter into a black hole (see e.g. Abramowicz & Fragile 2013 for a review) and the prediction that black holes grow as a result of infalling matter?⁵⁴ In that case, don't we *also* use a quasi-stationary sequence of stationary spacetimes (usually Kerr), and justify the perturbation of the mass parameter in the metric in terms of infalling matter? Being a technical topic, I will gloss over the details at a conceptual level. The gist is simply that standard arguments for accretion disks, infalling matter, and black hole growth, do *not* require asymptotic symmetries and global conservation of energy. This allows us to employ the quasi-stationary process as a model for the black hole's mass increase due to accretion, without essentially requiring all the idealized properties of quasi-stationarity or asymptotic flatness (because we do not essentially require time-independence of the metric, globally or asymptotically). This, in turn, sidesteps the worries raised so far.

It is true that accounts of accretion and infalling matter often appear to invoke gravitational energy or the gravitational potential.⁵⁵ For instance, Abramovicz & Fragile starts with a general story for accretion:

In these accretion disks, angular momentum is gradually removed by some presumably (although not necessarily) dissipative process, causing matter to spiral down into the black hole, converting its gravitational energy into heat, and then, by various processes, radiating this energy. The radiation subsequently leaks through the disk, escapes from its surface, and travels along trajectories curved (in space) by the strong gravity of the black hole, eventually reaching our telescopes. (2013, 6)

But just as talk about the Newtonian potential ϕ is widely understood shorthand for conveniently talking about *curved* spacetime in some appropriate approximation, such parlance about matter 'losing gravitational energy', can (and should) also be phrased in terms of matter following trajectories on curved spacetime, past the horizon into the black hole, the derivation of which is entirely local. In other words, the story of accretion and growth can be told entirely without talking about global conservation of energy, because non-localizable gravitational energy does not necessarily need to be invoked even if it is convenient to do so.

What remains to be told is a story for why we are justified in perturbing the mass parameter in any particular stationary spacetime in the quasi-stationary sequence of states, given the infalling matter. This story (told here at a very conceptual level) doesn't necessarily appeal to global conservation of energy, asymptotic or global. As Abramowicz & Fragile (2013, §3, §5.1) summarizes,⁵⁶ accretion disks are typically given a hydrodynamic description in terms of ordinary conserved (non-gravitational) local quantities such as mass and momentum (defined in terms of the stress-energy tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$), and each point (or 'fluid element') of the disk can be attributed a (non-gravitational) stress-energy tensor, which results in models such as the

⁵⁴I thank an anonymous reviewer for suggesting this case.

⁵⁵See also, e.g., Abramovicz et al (1988, 648) which uses the 'pseudo-Newtonian' potential as shorthand for modeling "general relativistic effects in the gravitational field of a black hole" (650).

⁵⁶See also Abramowicz & Straub (2014).

'Polish Doughnut' in the simplest case of a perfect fluid on curved spacetime.⁵⁷ Then, given some (finite!) patch of a black hole spacetime such as the Kerr spacetime (specifically, the region in, on, and around the horizon), the question of infalling matter simply becomes the question of which trajectories will carry these fluid elements, and local quantities on them, past some volume element of the horizon into the black hole, and which will not. But it follows from *local* conservation of $T_{\mu\nu}$ that we can track how much mass/energy has been transported across some volume element of the horizon along any particular trajectory. In turn, this gives us a justification for perturbing the mass parameter of the stationary spacetime (and hence for using the quasi-stationary process). Regardless of how much gravitational energy there is, it's simply the case that this local transport of mass into the horizon *will* increase the total mass inside the black hole, this time *without* appealing to global conservation, the time-independence of the metric, and the existence of global time-like Killing fields, avoiding the problems raised for the argument for black hole evaporation from global conservation. As such, black hole accretion need not face the same worries that I've raised for the family of arguments for black hole evaporation via global conservation of energy.

The key difference between arguments about accretion and the sort of arguments for black hole evaporation I've considered here, via global energy conservation, is that the story about accretion and infalling matter can be an entirely *local* affair. However, in the family of arguments I've been considering, Hawking radiation is derived using *global* spacetime structure, for instance by comparing global quantum fields at past and future null infinity in a black hole spacetime, and is therefore a property of the *entire* horizon rather than any particular localized point on the horizon. Likewise, then, black hole evaporation becomes a global affair, and requires considerations about global conservation of energy as I have emphasized so far.

Now, seemingly *local* arguments from vacuum polarization of the expected stress-energy tensor (rather than global conservation of energy) for black hole evaporation, mentioned in fn. 6, may also employ similar reasoning to the case of accretion, insofar as they work primarily with the local (expected) vacuum stress-energy tensor and its behavior near the horizon at each point, rather than with global spacetime structure. While this other family of arguments is not my focus here, it could provide an alternative route to black hole evaporation which may be less problematic – and hence much more attractive – given the discussion of this paper so far. Notably, this might mean we ought to give up the sort of global argument often provided in the literature – including in Hawking's original arguments – and adopt such local arguments instead, unless we can find a way to de-idealize asymptotic flatness or quasi-stationarity.

Finally, I consider a case that is less open-and-shut. What about standard derivations of gravitational waves, which also appear to rely on asymptotic flatness in crucial spots?⁵⁸ Getting into the controversial details of gravitational waves and its energy will, again, take

⁵⁷See Abramowicz et al (1988).

⁵⁸I thank an anonymous reviewer for suggesting this.

us too far afield (see e.g. Hoefer 2000, Lam 2011, Duerr 2019, Cartwright et al 2023 Ch. 7), so I will make some broad observations. I think we can distinguish two questions here. One, can standard derivations for the *existence* of gravitational waves be de-idealized? Two, can standard derivations that gravitational waves *carry energy* be de-idealized?

To the first question, I think the answer is *yes*. Standard derivations of gravitational waves appeal to linearized gravity in the weak-field regime, for which the metric can (again) be decomposed into a flat Minkowskian metric plus some perturbation term. By imposing the appropriate gauge conditions one can derive solutions to this perturbation term which are solutions to a wave equation. The details are much more than I can provide here, but the crux is that what matters is the *fall-off* – the separation of the metric into two parts, one of which can be seen as wave-like under specific conditions – as we *approach* spatial infinity (the first condition of asymptotic flatness, eq. 21), rather than the Minkowskian properties *at* infinity, i.e. the derivation does not essentially require the existence of a flat spatial infinity (i.e. the second condition of asymptotic flatness, eq. 22). So, at the very least, my arguments against asymptotic flatness and its resistance to de-idealization doesn't complicate issues for the existence of gravitational waves per se.

But what about the second question? We can agree that gravitational waves exist, but it's a further question – one that has a storied history (see Cartwright et al 2023, Ch. 7) – as to whether (and how) it actually carries energy away from its source. Here I think that the problems with de-idealizing asymptotic flatness return for reasons already discussed in the literature. Given the technical and broad nature of *that* debate, I will only skim the discussion here.⁵⁹ Roughly, the claim is that gravitational waves carry away energy from their source, e.g., rotating binary pulsars like the Hulse-Taylor binary pulsar. It is commonly said – given what Duerr (2019) calls the 'standard interpretation' - that their orbits observably decay (which won Hulse and Taylor the 1993 Nobel prize) and that this "can be seen as an indirect proof of the existence of gravitational waves" (Nobel Prize Committee 1993). The idea is that the best explanation is that gravitational waves carry away energy leading to the decay of their orbits. This, of course, relies on some principle of energy conservation. Furthermore, since there is no local notion of the energy of gravitational waves, this principle must be about global conservation of energy – which requires a global or asymptotic symmetry as I have argued (for gravitational radiation, the Bondi-Sachs formalism, problematized in fn. 45, rather than the ADM formalism is often used). Insofar as there is no de-idealization procedure for how realistic systems can approximately have such symmetries, we are not yet justified to use such principles. One way out is to adopt Duerr's (2019, §3.4) dynamical interpretation of binary pulsars, which explains the orbital decay of binary pulsars simply in

⁵⁹For arguments against the claim that gravitational waves carry energy, see Hoefer (2000), Duerr (2019), Fletcher (2024, Ch. 4). See Curiel (2019b) for a proof, under plausible conditions, that there can be no gravitational stress-energy tensor, suggesting a difference in kind between gravitational energy and ordinary forms of energy represented by stress-energy tensors (e.g. energy of the electromagnetic field). For a recent counterpoint, see Gomes & Rovelli (2023).

terms of the relativistic equations of motion and the Einstein field equations, *without* appealing in any way to gravitational waves or energy, sidestepping the worries with de-idealizing the relevant asymptotic symmetries. If Duerr is correct, then the use of gravitational energy, global conservation of energy, and all the idealizations required to make sense of those notions, though useful, are not *essential* for explaining the behavior of gravitational waves and the orbital decay of binary pulsars.

I admit that the case of gravitational radiation is less of an open-and-shut case than I would have liked, and that there remains work to be done to sort out the situation here. Perhaps advances in this debate can even help us out in de-idealizing the case of black hole evaporation – I welcome such developments. This is part of the point of the paper: there remains much work to be done to understand how and why we are allowed to use the varied idealizations in general relativity, and when these idealizations break down, work that can be pursued by philosophers and physicists alike.

I hope to have shown here that we *can* quarantine the argument against asymptotic flatness from most uses of asymptotic flat metrics, because many of those uses do *not* essentially require asymptotic flatness – the existence of a flat spatial infinity – for the generation of testable predictions. However, insofar as the family of arguments for black hole evaporation currently in question requires the premise of global energy conservation, *that* argument does not hold for realistic systems.

7 Concluding Remarks

Recently, Read (2020, 17) argues *contra* Hoefer (2000) (who also argues that our universe is not asymptotically flat, so has no conserved ADM mass) that:

every theory of physics is an idealization and does not 'apply to the actual world' in this strong sense. So, Hoefer's objection [...] seems at the same time to apply to an unacceptably broad class of physical laws and theories.

If Read is right, then it seems that I am asking for the impossible from physics. However, I see it as a mere deflection, not a confrontation, of the underlying problem. I agree with Read that idealizations *qua* idealizations are unproblematic. What I find problematic – in line with Norton – is the assumption that the systems approximating those idealizations inherit *all* the desirable properties of those idealizations. This is something which must be investigated on a case-by-case basis by constructing appropriate de-idealization procedures, and what is already done by some like Ashtekar and his colleagues.

On that front, it seems that we are, at present, lacking good justification for buying one prominent family of arguments for black hole evaporation, those which employ the global conservation of energy. Two idealizations appear to provide refuge from the näive dilemma I raised in §4: quasi-stationarity and asymptotic flatness. They are supposed to justify how timedependent spacetimes can approximately have symmetries required for approximate global conservation of energy either by appealing to global or asymptotic Killing fields. However, both appear to be unjustified for realistic systems once we attempt to de-idealize these highly idealized assumptions. So we are still left, again, with the naïve dilemma for the argument for black hole evaporation from conservation of energy. I reiterate that I have not argued that there could *not* be such a justification; I hope that this paper is seen, on a positive note, as a challenge for theorists to provide some such justification or clarification.

For philosophers, I hope to have shown that black hole physics remains a rich wellspring for philosophical debate. Black hole thermodynamics (and black hole physics in general) is a field where many approximations are made, seemingly without issue. However, as I have shown, a closer look may reveal some conceptual puzzles, such as that of quasi-stationarity, as well as empirical concerns, such as that of asymptotic flatness.

My discussion also relates – and adds – to well-known discussions about idealizations versus approximations, by analyzing whether the properties of idealizations like quasi-stationarity transfer over to the systems approximating such idealizations, and whether black hole evaporation is a phenomenon that essentially requires the idealization of quasi-stationarity. As I have argued, careful handling of idealizations and approximations reveals that black hole evaporation lacks justification.

The present discussion also connects with the literature surrounding the broader problem of defining a suitable notion of energy in general relativity. I hope to have shown how these foundational discussions can be of import to contemporary physics.

I foresee much more to unpack on this front, and hence more work to be done. Here, I have only explored the troubles with defining a global conservation law via global time-like Killing fields, and the conceptual difficulties with finding suitable approximate descriptions of a globally conserved energy term via quasi-stationarity or asymptotic flatness for realistic systems. Recently, however, there has been some focus on so-called quasi-local alternative definitions for energy: two notable proposals are the pseudotensor approach and the Brown-York quasi-local approach. The problems with the quasi-pseudotensor approach are already well-known both in physics and philosophy. The Brown-York tensor approach, which defines a quasi-local energy via an integral on the 2-surface of a 3-volume in spacetime, appears more fruitful. McGrath (2012) and De Haro (2022) have both argued that this quasi-local approach is conceptually superior to the global and pseudotensor approaches to defining energy. However, it appears that the Brown-York quantity still requires the existence of at least a global time-like Killing field in order for it to be conserved. (Szabados 2009, 85) Since spacetimes with time-like Killing fields are stationary, the dilemma I have presented here may threaten to return.⁶⁰ Interestingly, Beetle & Wilder (2014, 2–3) notes that the Brown-York approach depends on

⁶⁰De Haro (2022) does note that the condition can be weakened to the requirement of merely *conformal* Killing fields for spacetimes with a positive Λ , which merits some study.

the ability to define a 2-sphere S which is "fixed geometrically by features of the surrounding spacetime", and thus is "on their surest footing when the intrinsic geometry on S admits an axial Killing field." Notably, they continue that when there are no Killing fields, as is the case for generic spacetimes:

when S is not axially symmetric, one must specify how to construct a similarly geometrically preferred vector field ξ^{α} from an arbitrary 2-sphere metric. Moreover, this vector field must reduce to the axial Killing field whenever one exists. A natural way to do this is to seek a best approximation, in some prescribed sense, to a Killing field on S.

In other words, it seems that the Brown-York approach, if it is to take off, must *also* be justified by an appropriate de-idealization procedure. If so, it may well be the case that the problems with de-idealization I have pointed out here might infect these quasi-local approaches.

Finally, one might think that my argument only works because of a highly stringent standard for what counts as justification of an idealization, that of de-idealization. I have two things to say here: first, this notion is popular in philosophy of science, and is implicitly at work in discussions about justifying other idealizations, for instance, the thermodynamic limit (e.g. Wu 2021) or the ergodic hypothesis (e.g. Vranas 1998) in thermodynamics and statistical mechanics. Second, I agree that this is a high standard, but there is not much that has been done to 'de-idealize' the notion of de-idealization by understanding other ways in which idealized models can be tethered to the world without resorting to 'taking the limit' within or between models of physics. On this more relaxed view, it might just be the case that we *can* justify the use of certain idealizations for black holes. However, no such account exists at the moment. This is, in fact, something I am working on at the moment, but I leave it for future work.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Craig Callender, Kathleen Connelly, Erik Curiel, John Dougherty, Nick Huggett, Yichen Luo, Kerry McKenzie, Sai Ying Ng, Mike Schneider, Chip Sebens, Shelly Yiran Shi, Anncy Thresher, and participants of the UCSD Graduate Philosophy Colloquium and the XXIV International Summer School in Philosophy of Physics at University of Urbino, for their helpful comments and suggestions.

References

- Abramowicz, M. A., B. Czerny, J. P. Lasota, and E. Szuszkiewicz (1988). Slim Accretion Disks. *The Astrophysical Journal 332*, 646–658.
- Abramowicz, M. A. and P. C. Fragile (2013). Foundations of Black Hole Accretion Disk Theory. *Living Reviews in Relativity 16*(1), 1.
- Abramowicz, M. A. and O. Straub (2014). Accretion Discs. *Scholarpedia 9*(8), 2408. Revision #145813.
- Arnowitt, R. L., S. Deser, and C. W. Misner (1962). The Dynamics of General Relativity. *Gen. Rel. Grav.* 40, 1997–2027.
- Ashtekar, A. (2017). Implications of a Positive Cosmological Constant for General Relativity. *Rept.Prog.Phys. 80*(10), 102901.
- Ashtekar, A., B. Bonga, and A. Kesavan (2016). Gravitational Waves From Isolated Systems: Surprising Consequences of a Positive Cosmological Constant. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 116, 051101.
- Ashtekar, A. and T. Dray (1981). On the Existence of Solutions to Einstein's Equation with Non-Zero Bondi News. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 79, 581–599.
- Ashtekar, A. and R. O. Hansen (1978). A Unified Treatment of Null and Spatial Infinity in General Relativity. I. Universal Structure, Asymptotic Symmetries, and Conserved Quantities at Spatial Infinity. *Journal of Mathematical Physics 19*(7), 1542–1566.
- Balasubramanian, V., J. de Boer, and D. Minic (2002). Mass, Entropy, and Holography in Asymptotically de Sitter Spaces. *Phys. Rev. D* 65, 123508.
- Batterman, R. W. (2002). *The Devil in the Details: Asymptotic Reasoning in Explanation, Reduction, and Emergence.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Batterman, R. W. (2005). Critical Phenomena and Breaking Drops: Infinite Idealizations in Physics. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 36*(2), 225–244.
- Beetle, C. and S. Wilder (2014). Perturbative Stability of the Approximate Killing Field Eigenvalue Problem. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 31*(7), 075009.
- Belot, G. (2023). Accelerating Expansion: Philosophy and Physics with a Positive Cosmological Constant. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Belot, G., J. Earman, and L. Ruetsche (1999). The Hawking Information Loss Paradox: The Anatomy of a Controversy. *The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science* 50(2), 189–229.

- Birrell, N. D. and P. C. W. Davies (1982). *Quantum Fields in Curved Space*. Cambridge University Press.
- Bona, C., J. Carot, and C. Palenzuela-Luque (2005). Almost-Stationary Motions and Gauge Conditions in General Relativity. *Phys. Rev. D* 72, 124010.
- Bonga, B. and J. S. Hazboun (2017, Sep). Power radiated by a binary system in a de sitter universe. *Phys. Rev. D* 96, 064018.
- Brown, H. R. (2022). Do Symmetries 'Explain' Conservation Laws? The Modern Converse Noether Theorem vs Pragmatism. In J. Read and N. J. Teh (Eds.), *The Philosophy and Physics* of Noether's Theorems: A Centenary Volume, pp. 144–168. Cambridge University Press.
- Brown, J. D. and J. W. York (1993). Quasilocal Energy and Conserved Charges Derived from the Gravitational Action. *Phys. Rev. D* 47, 1407–1419.
- Butterfield, J. (2011). Less is Different: Emergence and Reduction Reconciled. *Foundations of Physics 41*, 1065–-1135.
- Callender, C. (2001). Taking Thermodynamics Too Seriously. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 32*(4), 539–553. The Conceptual Foundations of Statistical Physics.
- Carathéodory, C. (1909). Untersuchungen über die Grundlagen der Thermodynamik. *Mathematische Annalen 67*(3), 355 – 386.
- Carlip, S. (2014). Black Hole Thermodynamics. *International Journal of Modern Physics D 23*(11), 1430023.
- Carroll, S. M. (2019). *Spacetime and Geometry: An Introduction to General Relativity*. Cambridge University Press.
- Cartwright, N., J. Hardie, E. Montuschi, M. Soleiman, and A. C. Thresher (2023). *The Tangle of Science: Reliability Beyond Method, Rigour, and Objectivity.* Oxford, GB: Oxford University Press.
- Chruściel, P. T. (1992). On the Global Structure of Robinson-Trautman Space-Times. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences 436(1897), 299–316.
- Chua, E. Y. S. and C. Callender (2021). No time for time from no-time. *Philosophy of Science 88*(5), 1172–1184.

- Cook, G. B. and B. F. Whiting (2007). Approximate Killing Vectors on S². *Phys. Rev. D* 76, 041501.
- Curiel, E. (2019a). The Many Definitions of a Black Hole. Nature Astronomy 3, 27-34.
- Curiel, E. (2019b). On Geometric Objects, the Non-Existence of a Gravitational Stress-Energy Tensor, and the Uniqueness of the Einstein Field Equation. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 66*, 90–102.
- De Haro, S. (2022). Noether's Theorems and Energy in General Relativity. In J. Read and N. J. Teh (Eds.), *The Philosophy and Physics of Noether's Theorems: A Centenary Volume*, pp. 197–256. Cambridge University Press.
- Dougherty, J. and C. Callender (2016). Black Hole Thermodynamics: More Than An Analogy? URL: https://philsci-archive.pitt.edu/13195/ (Last accessed Jan 19 2025.).
- Duerr, P. M. (2019). It Ain't Necessarily So: Gravitational Waves and Energy Transport. Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 65, 25–40.
- Duerr, P. M. (2021). Against 'Functional Gravitational Energy': A Critical Note on Functionalism, Selective Realism, and Geometric Objects and Gravitational Energy. *Synthese 199*(2), 299–333.
- Earman, J. (1995). Bangs, Crunches, Whimpers, and Shrieks: Singularities and Acausalities in Relativistic Spacetimes. Oxford University Press.
- Earman, J. (2004). Curie's Principle and Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking. *International Studies in the Philosophy of Science 18*(2-3), 173–198.
- Ellis, G. (2002). Cosmology and Local Physics. *International Journal of Modern Physics A* 17(20), 2667–2671.
- Ellis, G. (2015). Black Hole Hawking Radiation is Turned Off by Infalling Matter or Radiation. *Karl Schwarzschild Meeting 2015, FIAS.*
- Feng, J. C., E. Gasperín, and J. L. Williams (2019). Almost-Killing Equation: Stability, Hyperbolicity, and Black Hole Gauss Law. *Phys. Rev. D 100*, 124034.
- Fischler, W., A.-K. Kashani-Poor, R. McNees, and S. Paban (2001). The Acceleration of the Universe, A Challenge for String Theory. *Journal of High Energy Physics 2001*(07), 003–003.
- Fletcher, S. C. (2020). The Principle of Stability. Philosophers' Imprint 20(3), 199-220.

- Fletcher, S. C. (2021). An invitation to approximate symmetry, with three applications to intertheoretic relations. *Synthese 198*(5), 4811–4831.
- Fletcher, S. C. (2024). *Cambridge Elements: Foundations of General Relativity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Frolov, V. P. and D. N. Page (1993). Proof of the Generalized Second Law for Quasistationary Semiclassical Black Holes. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 71, 3902–3905.
- Geroch, R. (1967). Topology in General Relativity. Journal of Mathematical Physics 8, 782-786.
- Geroch, R. (1972). Structure of the Gravitational Field at Spatial Infinity. *Journal of Mathematical Physics 13*(7), 956–968.
- Gomes, H. and C. Rovelli (2023). On the analogies between gravitational and electromagnetic radiative energy. https://arxiv.org/abs/2303.14064 (last access Jan 29 2025.).
- Gryb, S., P. Palacios, and K. Thebault (2021). On the Universality of Hawking Radiation. *British Journal for the Philosophy of Science* 72(3), 809–837.
- Hawking, S. W. (1974). Black Hole Explosions? Nature 248, 30-31.
- Hawking, S. W. (1975). Particle Creation by Black Holes. Commun. Math. Phys. 43, 199-220.
- Hawking, S. W. (1976). Breakdown of Predictability in Gravitational Collapse. *Phys. Rev. D* 14, 2460–2473.
- Hawking, S. W. (1977). The quantum mechanics of black holes. *Scientific American 236*(1), 34–42.
- Hawking, S. W. and G. Ellis (1973). *The Large Scale Structure of Space-Time*. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press.
- Hoefer, C. (2000). Energy Conservation in GTR. Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 31(2), 187–199.
- Knuuttila, T. and M. S. Morgan (2019). Deidealization: No Easy Reversals. *Philosophy of Science 86*(4), 641–661.
- Koberinski, A. and C. Smeenk (2023). Λ and the Limits of Effective Field Theory. *Philosophy of Science* 90(2), 454 474.
- Lam, V. (2011). Gravitational and Nongravitational Energy: The Need for Background Structures. *Philosophy of Science 78*(5), 1012–1024.

- Lovelace, G., R. Owen, H. P. Pfeiffer, and T. Chu (2008). Binary-Black-Hole Initial Data with Nearly Extremal Spins. *Phys. Rev. D* 78, 084017.
- Mädler, T. and J. Winicour (2016). Bondi-Sachs Formalism. Scholarpedia 11, 33528.
- Manchak, J. B. (2013). Global Space Time Structure. In R. Batterman (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook* of *Philosophy of Physics*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Matzner, R. A. (1968). Almost Symmetric Spaces and Gravitational Radiation. *Journal of Mathematical Physics 9*(10), 1657–1668.
- Maudlin, T. (2017). (Information) Paradox Lost. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/1705.03541. Last accessed March 24 2021.
- Maudlin, T., E. Okon, and D. Sudarsky (2020). On the Status of Conservation Laws in Physics: Implications for Semiclassical Gravity. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 69*, 67–81.
- McGrath, P. L., R. J. Epp, and R. B. Mann (2012). Quasilocal Conservation Laws: Why We Need Them. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 29*(21), 215012.
- McMullin, E. (1985). Galilean idealization. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part* A 16(3), 247–273.
- Menon, T. and C. Callender (2013). Turn and face the strange... ch-ch-changes: Philosophical questions raised by phase transitions. In R. Batterman (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Philosophy of Physics*. Oxford University Press USA.
- Misner, C. W., K. S. Thorne, and J. A. Wheeler (1973). *Gravitation*. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman.
- Mitra, A. (2012). Interpretational conflicts between the static and non-static forms of the de sitter metric. *Scientific Reports 2*(1), 923.
- Nobel Prize Committee (1993). Press release. https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/physics/1993/press-release.
- Noether, E. (1918). Invariante Variationsprobleme. Nachr. v. d. Ges. d. Wiss. zu Göttingen, 235– 257. English translation by M.A. Tavel, Reprinted from "Transport Theory and Statistical Mechanics" 1(3), 183-207 (1971).
- Norton, J. D. (2012). Approximation and Idealization: Why The Difference Matters. *Philosophy* of Science 79(2), 207–232.

- Norton, J. D. (2016). The Impossible Process: Thermodynamic Reversibility. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics 55*, 43–61.
- Page, D. N. (1976). Particle Emission Rates from a Black Hole. II. Massless Particles from a Rotating Hole. *Phys. Rev. D* 14, 3260–3273.
- Page, D. N. (2005). Hawking Radiation and Black Hole Thermodynamics. New Journal of Physics 7, 203–203.
- Palacios, P. (2018). Had We But World Enough, and Time... But We Don't!: Justifying the Thermodynamic and Infinite-Time Limits in Statistical Mechanics. *Foundations of Physics 48*, 526–541.
- Penrose, R. (1999). The Question of Cosmic Censorship. *Journal of Astrophysics and Astronomy 20*, 233.
- Pitts, J. B. (2010). Gauge-Invariant Localization of Infinitely Many Gravitational Energies From All Possible Auxiliary Structures. *Gen Relativ Gravit 42*, 601–622.
- Podolský, J. and O. Svítek (2005). Radiative Spacetimes Approaching The Vaidya Metric. *Phys. Rev. D* 71, 124001.
- Read, J. (2020). Functional Gravitational Energy. The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science 71(1), 205–232.
- Rosen, J. (2008). *Symmetry Rules: How Science and Nature are founded on Symmetry*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Ryder, D. J. (forthcoming). The Black Hole Idealization Paradox. *The British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*.
- Sadowski, A. (2011). *Slim Accretion Disks Around Black Holes*. Ph. D. thesis, Nicolaus Copernicus Astronomical Center, Polish Academy of Sciences. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/1108.0396. Last accessed November 21 2024.
- Saw, V.-L. (2016). Mass-loss of an isolated gravitating system due to energy carried away by gravitational waves with a cosmological constant. *Phys. Rev. D* 94, 104004.
- Schoen, R. and S. T. Yau (1979). On the Proof of the Positive Mass Conjecture in General Relativity. *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 65(1), 45 76.
- Schoen, R. and S. T. Yau (1981). Proof of the Positive Mass Theorem. II. Communications in Mathematical Physics 79(2), 231 – 260.

- Schwarzschild, K. (1916). On the Gravitational Field of a Mass Point According to Einstein's Theory. *Sitzungsber.Preuss.Akad.Wiss.Berlin (Math.Phys.)*, 189–196. Translated by S. Antoni and A. Loinger (1999). Available at https://arxiv.org/abs/physics/9905030.
- Shibata, M., K. Nakao, T. Nakamura, and K. Maeda (1994). Dynamical Evolution of Gravitational Waves in Asymptotically de Sitter Spacetime. *Phys. Rev. D* 50, 708–719.
- Szabados, L. B. (2009). Quasi-Local Energy-Momentum and Angular Momentum in General Relativity. *Living Reviews in Relativity 12*(1), 4.
- Vranas, P. B. M. (1998). Epsilon-Ergodicity and the Success of Equilibrium Statistical Mechanics. *Philosophy of Science 65*(4), 688–708.
- Wald, R. M. (2001). The Thermodynamics of Black Holes. Living Reviews in Relativity 4(6).
- Wall, A. C. (2009). Ten Proofs of the Generalized Second Law. Journal of High Energy Physics 2009(06), 021.
- Wallace, D. (2018). The Case for Black Hole Thermodynamics Part I: Phenomenological Thermodynamics. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part B: Studies in History and Philosophy of Modern Physics* 64, 52–67.
- Weisberg, M. (2007). Three kinds of idealization. Journal of Philosophy 104(12), 639-659.
- Will, C. M. (2015). The 1919 Measurement of the Deflection of Light. *Classical and Quantum Gravity 32*(12), 124001.
- Witten, E. (2001). Quantum Gravity in de Sitter Space. In *Strings 2001: International Conference*. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/hep-th/0106109.
- Wu, J. (2021). Explaining Universality: Infinite Limit Systems in the Renormalization Group Method. Synthese 199(5-6), 14897–14930.
- Zilhão, M., V. Cardoso, L. Gualtieri, C. Herdeiro, U. Sperhake, and H. Witek (2012). Dynamics of Black Holes in de Sitter Spacetimes. *Phys. Rev. D* 85, 104039.
- Zurek, W. H. and K. S. Thorne (1985). Statistical Mechanical Origin of the Entropy of a Rotating, Charged Black Hole. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 54, 2171–2175.